
Summons to Meeting

Friday 13 July 2018

Development Panel
Tuesday 24 July 2018, 1.00 pm

Council Chamber - Allerdale House, Workington
Membership:

Councillor Peter Bales (Chair) Councillor Billy Miskelly (Vice-Chair)
Councillor Tony Annison Councillor Carole Armstrong
Councillor Nicky Cockburn Councillor Janet Farebrother
Councillor Malcolm Grainger Councillor Mark Jenkinson
Councillor Ron Munby Councillor Jim Osborn
Councillor Bill Pegram Councillor Philip Tibble
Councillor David Wilson

Members of the public are welcome to attend the meeting. If you have any questions 
or queries contact Dean Devine on 01900 702502.

Agenda
1. Minutes  (To Follow)

To sign as a correct record the minutes of the meeting held on 26 June 2018.

2. Apologies for Absence  

3. Declaration of Interests  
Councillors/Staff to give notice of any disclosable pecuniary interest, other 
registrable interest or any other interest and the nature of that interest relating to 
any item on the agenda in accordance with the adopted Code of Conduct.

4. Questions  
To answer questions from Councillors and members of the public – submitted in 
writing or by electronic mail no later than 5.00pm, 2 working days before the 
meeting.

Page 1



5. 2/2018/0050 - Application to vary condition 3 of planning application 
2/1998/0862 - Lakes Home Centre, Low Road, Cockermouth  (Pages 3 - 22)
https://planning.allerdale.gov.uk/portal/servlets/ApplicationSearchServlet?PKID=
176934

6. 2/2018/0051 - Application to vary condition 2 on application 2/2008/0533 - 
Lakes Home Centre, Low Road, Cockermouth  (Pages 23 - 40)
https://planning.allerdale.gov.uk/portal/servlets/ApplicationSearchServlet?PKID=
176940

7. 2/2018/0070 - Hybrid application - Erection of retail unit (Class A1) with 
external garden centre (Full Application), Employment unit (Class B1, B2, 
and B8) (Outline Application with details of appearance reserved), 
including access, parking, landscaping and associated works - Land at 
Low Road, Cockermouth  (Pages 41 - 96)
https://planning.allerdale.gov.uk/portal/servlets/ApplicationSearchServlet?PKID=
177598

8. 2/2018/0124 - Works to existing farm track to create a temporary site to 
compound access road to be in use until the end of April 2019 - 
Development at Printfield Site, King Street, Wigton  (Pages 97 - 104)
https://planning.allerdale.gov.uk/portal/servlets/ApplicationSearchServlet?PKID=
180911

Monitoring Officer

Date of Next Meeting:

Tuesday 21 August 2018, 1.00 pm
Council Chamber, Allerdale House

Page 2

https://planning.allerdale.gov.uk/portal/servlets/ApplicationSearchServlet?PKID=176934
https://planning.allerdale.gov.uk/portal/servlets/ApplicationSearchServlet?PKID=176934
https://planning.allerdale.gov.uk/portal/servlets/ApplicationSearchServlet?PKID=176940
https://planning.allerdale.gov.uk/portal/servlets/ApplicationSearchServlet?PKID=176940
https://planning.allerdale.gov.uk/portal/servlets/ApplicationSearchServlet?PKID=177598
https://planning.allerdale.gov.uk/portal/servlets/ApplicationSearchServlet?PKID=177598
https://planning.allerdale.gov.uk/portal/servlets/ApplicationSearchServlet?PKID=180911
https://planning.allerdale.gov.uk/portal/servlets/ApplicationSearchServlet?PKID=180911


Allerdale Borough Council 
Planning Application 2/2018/0050

Proposed 
Development:

Application to vary condition 3 of planning application 2/1998/0862

Location: Lakes Home Centre
Low Road
Cockermouth

Applicant: P & J Lister
Lakes Home Store

Recommendation: APPROVE subject to the conditions recommended at Annex 1

Issue Conclusion

Retail impact on the 
vitality and viability 
of the town centre

Supporting retail statement submitted with the application was 
independently evaluated by a retail consultant commissioned 
by the Council. It is considered the proposal would not have an 
adverse impact on the vitality or viability of the  town centre

Variation to the 
types of goods 
allowed to be sold.

The variation of the goods to generic “convenience “ and 
“comparison” good types was included as part of the overall 
retail impact with no adverse impact on the vitality or viability of 
the  town centre  

Town Centre 
Viability

An acceptable sequential assessment has been provided which 
concludes that those sites in closer proximity to the town centre 
are neither suitable and/or available. The fact that the site 
operates as an existing retail store is a material consideration.

Highway impact The Highways Authority has raised no objection. 

Proposal

The application is made under s73 of the Town & Country Planning Act 1990. The 
“variation” sought is to enable the development to continue without compliance with an 
existing condition. The condition in question is No. 3 of the original 1998 permission 
(2/1998/0862). It states:-

“The development shall not be used for the sale of food, drink and tobacco (other than 
confectionary and pet foods), clothing and footwear including sports wear and children’s 

Page 3

Agenda Item 5



clothing (other than protective footwear and protective clothing), books and magazines, 
toys and games, music, records and CD’s, audio and video tapes (including hire), 
computer software, photographic goods, stationary, fashion accessories (including 
handbags, luggage, watches, clocks and jewellery), perfume and toiletries, sports 
equipment (other than bicycles), uses identified in paragraphs (b) to (F) and (h) to (j) of 
Class A1 of the Schedule to the Town and Country Planning (Use Classes) Order 1987 
(as amended)(or any Order revoking and re-enacting or amending that Order), without 
the prior consent of the local planning authority.”

The reasoning given for the condition was to enable the local planning authority to 
“carefully examine its suitability for any other uses to assess whether they would be 
acceptable in terms of policy, access and amenity.”

The proposal seeks a new permission with a different condition to read:-
 
“The development shall comprise sales floor space totalling no more than 30% 
convenience floorspace and no less than 70% comparison floorspace.”

The accompanying Planning Statement to the application suggests that the application is 
necessary to “allow the retail unit to react more efficiently to changing retail 
circumstances, particularly as the sector shifts to a more online focus. The removal of the 
condition will allow the store to add further to the overall retail offer of the town and 
continue to complement the existing provision, retaining the maximum amount of spend 
within the town and aiding in the reduction of leakage to other areas.”  

Site

The application site relates to an existing established out of town comparison store, 
located on the western perimeter of the town. Customer access to the site is via a mini-
roundabout junction onto Low Road which serves an ancillary car park of 109 spaces. A 
second service access from Low Road is located to the west of the store. This access 
also serves the application site for the retail store also considered by this meeting of the 
Development Panel (ref 2/2018/0070). The single operator at the site, trading as the 
Lakes Home Centre, sells goods including furniture, decorative ornaments, garden 
plants, implements and machinery, home furnishings such as candles, towels etc. 

To the west is the abovementioned other application site. To the south is Low Road, the 
main artery into the town from the west. Beyond Low Road is the parkland of the Fitz (a 
grade II listed country house), the housing on Parklands Drive and the Lloyd motor 
dealership. To the north and east is the River Derwent.

Relevant Planning History

In 1998 planning consent was approved under 2/1998/0862 for the erection of a DIY 
comparison goods retail store with associated access, parking, service yard and 
landscaping.

Page 4



Further to the implementation of the consent, the Council approved a further application 
(2/2008/0533) within the retail unit for the erection of an internal mezzanine floor for the 
retail sales of non-food items. The mezzanine is 874sqm in area.

The original applications 2/2016/0678 and 2/2016/0679 for this proposal were withdrawn 
due to the lack of detailed information on its retail impact. 

The current resubmission application has been submitted alongside another separate 
resubmission application 2/2018/0051 for the store’s first floor mezzanine which also 
seeks to vary condition 2 of its consent to similarly allow a 30/70% 
(convenience/comparison) split in the retail floorspace.

The neighbouring site to the west of the lakes centre has also been the subject of recent 
retail planning applications. The planning application 2/2016/0186 proposing a 1,486sqm 
foodstore and a non-food retail unit of 1,021sqm plus 465sqm mezzanine (which included 
a retail impact assessment) was refused on the grounds of the loss of employment land 
and the loss of trees protected under a Tree Preservation Order. 

The current application for that site, 2/2018/0070, seeks full permission for a 2043sqm 
retail store with 696sqm garden centre and an additional outline permission for a 464sqm 
unit for flexible employment use. 

Representations

Cockermouth Town council 

Recommend Approval

Cumbria Highways (CCC) 

No comment 

Cockermouth Civic Trust

Object - The Cockermouth & District Civic Trust object to this application to remove 
existing restrictions imposed on the current retail unit. We do not believe the economic 
viability of the town centre has improved in the time since the original conditional 
approval and this current time.
We are aware of another application for an adjacent site that has created the motivation 
and perceived need for this submission, however, until that application (2/2018/0070) is 
determined this application cannot be correctly assessed as the outcome of application 
2/2018/0070 is a material consideration. We, therefore, request that any decision is 
postponed until application 2/2018/0070 is determined, at which point this application can 
assessed against a different set of circumstances that exist now.

Individual/Other representations

The application has been advertised on site, within the press and by neighbour letter.

Page 5



Thirteen letters of objection have been received on the grounds of:

 Detrimental impact on town centre and the uniqueness of its independent trader
 No change of circumstances since the granting of the consents whose conditions 

sought to protect the town’s retail centre.
 Items conditions enabled the store to complement the retail facilities in the town 

centre which appears to have worked well.
 The retail town centre has suffered 2 floods and austerity 
 No consent has been granted for a B&Q on the neighbouring site which was 

refused on the grounds that it would damage the retail core-therefore no 
justification for amending the conditions 

 Precedent for further edge of/out of town retail development adjacent to the site with 
associated cumulative impacts

 Damaging impact if the store was sold with subsequent flexibility to sell any type of 
goods, with impacts on the retail offer of the town’s traders

 The sustainability argument lacks evidence on the trading position of the town’s 
independent shops and little weight should be given to Sainsbury’s overtrading

 Out of town retail is undesirable and should be resisted. Seek a vibrant centre with 
no empty shops

 Size of store is more appropriate in Workington as the principle shopping 
destination

 The submitted Allerdale Retail Survey is dated July 2015 prior to the floods and 
therefore does not provide an accurate picture 
 Harmful impact on the gem town
 Any jobs are likely to be limited hours on low wages and therefore the employment 
cannot be factored as a positive.
 Retail evidence contradicts claims of Sainsbury’s and Wilko’s laying off staff-no 
accounting of New Lidl store
 Application site would become a one stop shopping destination with a free car park 
and accessibility to the town taking trade away from the town centre 
 Alternative empty premises in the town centre.
 Harmful impact on the mix of shops in the town and its shopping experience
 Potential loss of local jobs in the town centre and deteriorating condition of its 

buildings

Duties 

Section 66 Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 requires that 
when considering whether to grant planning permission for development which affects a 
listed building or its setting, the local planning authority shall have special regard to the 
desirability of preserving the building or its setting or any features of special 
architectural or historic interest which it possesses. 

Section 72 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 requires 
that special attention shall be paid to the desirability of preserving or enhancing the 
character or appearance of a designated Conservation Area.    Planning (Listed 
Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990. 

Page 6



The Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2010 state that competent 
authorities are required to make an appropriate assessment of any plan or project they 
intend to permit or carry out, if the plan or project is likely to have a significant effect 
upon a European site. The permission may only be given if the plan or project is 
ascertained to have no adverse effect upon the integrity of the European site. If the 
competent authority wishes to permit a plan or project despite a negative assessment, 
imperative reasons of over-riding public interest must be demonstrated, and there 
should be no alternative to the scheme. 

Regulation 9 (1) of the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2010 requires 
all public bodies to have regard to the requirements of the Habitats Directive in the 
exercise of their functions, particularly when determining a planning application for a 
development which may have an impact on European Protected Species ("EPS"), such 
as bats, great crested newts or otters.

Development Plan Policies

Allerdale Local Plan 1999 

Saved settlement limits 
Saved employment allocation – EM2. 

Allerdale Local Plan Part 1 (2014)

Policy S1 - Presumption in favour of sustainable development
Policy S2 - Sustainable development principles
Policy S3 - Spatial Strategy and Growth
Policy S4 - Design principles
Policy S5 - Development Principles
Policy S6c - Cockermouth  
Policy S12 – Land and Premises
Policy S16 - Town centres and retail
Policy S21 - Developer contributions 
Policy S22 – Transport Principles
Policy S24 - Green infrastructure
Policy S27 - Heritage Assets
Policy S29 - Flood Risk and Surface Water Drainage
Policy S30 - Reuse of Land
Policy S32 - Safeguarding amenity
Policy S33 - Landscape
Policy S35 - Protecting and enhancing biodiversity and geodiversity
Policy S36 - Air, water and soil quality
Policy DM3 - Protection of Employment Sites
Policy DM8 - Protecting Town Centre Vitality and Viability
Policy DM14 - Standards of Good Design
Policy DM16 - Sequential Test for Previously Developed Land
Policy DM17 - Trees, hedgerows and woodland

Page 7



Other material considerations 

Draft Allerdale Borough Local Plan (Part 2) 
National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) (2012)
Employment Land and Workspace Study 2016
Allerdale Retail Study 2015

Policy weighting 
Notwithstanding the duties outlined above, section 38(6) of the Planning and 

Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires that, if regard is to be had to the development 
plan for the purpose of any determination to be made under the planning Acts, the 
determination must be made in accordance with the plan unless material considerations 
indicate otherwise. This means that the Allerdale Borough Local Plan (Part 1) 2014 
policies have primacy.

A material consideration is the provisions of the NPPF. Paragraph 215 of the NPPF 
advises that the weight afforded to development plan policies can vary according to 
their degree of consistency with this framework (the closer the policies in the plan to the 
policies in the Framework, the greater the weight that may be given). 

In this instance, the Allerdale Local Plan (part 1) policies relevant to this site and 
proposal postdate and are consistent with NPPF and so full weight can be afforded to 
them. 

However, it is acknowledged that the saved settlement boundaries of the 1999 Plan are 
pending review and delivery of the part 1 Local Plan’s strategic policies is predicated on 
development beyond these limits. As such the weight afforded to these limits is 
tempered.
Employment sites and allocations dating from the 1999 Plan have been saved by virtue 
of Policy S12 of the 2014 Allerdale Local Plan, pending review through the site 
allocations process. Policy S12 is considered to accord with the NPPF, which supports 
sustainable economic development. This approach to employment sites and allocations 
has been supported by the Planning Inspectorate through a recent appeal decision at 
Solway Industrial Estate, Maryport (3187370).  

Paragraph 216 of the NPPF advises that weight can be afforded to emerging plans, that 
weight dependent on the stage of preparation, the extent of unresolved objections and 
consistency with the provisions of the Framework. In this instance Part 2 of the Local 
Plan is at an early stage of preparation and is afforded very little weight in the 
assessment.

Assessment 

Introduction 

Page 8



Section 73(2) of the 1990 Act states that “the local planning authority shall consider only 
the question of the conditions subject to which planning permission should be granted.”

The options open to this Authority are:-

A. If it is decided that permission should be granted subject to different conditions to 
those previously imposed or it should be granted unconditionally, then 
permission should be granted accordingly.

B. If it is decided that permission should be granted subject to the same conditions 
as previously imposed, then the s73 application should be refused. 

The principle of the store itself is not in question.

Where an application under section 73 is granted, the effect is the issue of a new 
planning permission, sitting alongside the original permission, which remains intact and 
unamended. Given that a new permission is being considered, then the determination 
must be made in the context of current development plan policies and material 
considerations. In that regard, whilst condition 3 of the original permission is the focus of 
the applicant’s submission, the other conditions should be reviewed, albeit the Panel’s 
resolution must not fundamentally alter the proposal put forward in the original 
application. The review of the other conditions assesses whether they are still 
necessary, written in a way that is precise and enforceable, whether they are relevant to 
the development and planning and reasonable in all other respects.

Convenience goods are everyday essential items, such as food.  Comparison goods are 
retail items not bought on a frequent basis. The reason for the original retail goods 
planning condition was “In order to ensure that the additional retail floorspace does not 
adversely affect the vitality and viability of the town centre, in compliance with Policy 
RG2 of the Allerdale Local Plan.

It can be surmised that the bespoke condition was initially imposed seeking to protect 
retail trade within the town centre. However most current retail permissions alternatively 
refer to the two different distinctive generic categories of shopping ,which if deemed 
necessary, have  restricted floorspaces via planning condition (e.g. as imposed on the 
Lidl stores in Cockermouth, Wigton and Maryport).

Relationship to application 2/2018/0051(s73 relating to the mezzanine within the 
store).

It is conceivable that the variation of the condition relating to the ground floor (this 
application) and the mezzanine need not be both implemented if granted and that the 
clear split in floor levels would enable enforcement of the respective conditions. 
Nevertheless, in practice as a single retail unit, this is not very likely and it is reasonable 
to assume that the variation in goods to reflect the new conditions would be 
implemented simultaneously for both the mezzanine and main trading floor. Indeed, this 
is how the applicant’s assessments and the Council’s peer review have been 
undertaken. The following assessment therefore cites figures, when referring to the 
Lakes, for the combined floor space of the main trading floor and the mezzanine.

Page 9



Town Centre Vitality and Viability

Policy S16 requires retail development to be located within existing centres and to be of 
a scale commensurate to the settlements role and function, so as to not undermine the 
settlement hierarchy. Further, Policy S16 requires that proposals for main town centre 
uses outside of defined centres will be refused where the applicant has not 
demonstrated compliance with the sequential approach to site selection, or where there 
is clear evidence that the proposal would have a significant adverse impact on the 
vitality and viability of a nearby centre.   Policy DM8 stipulates a threshold of 300sqm for 
retail development requiring impact assessment. 

The application site does not lie within or adjacent to Cockermouth town centre and 
therefore falls to be assessed as an out of centre site for the purposes of section 2 of 
the NPPF and policies S16 and DM8 of the Allerdale Local Plan. 

Sequential Test for retail

The building, its associated car parking and servicing extends to around 0.73ha. There 
is no flexibility demonstrated as part of the assessment. There is no formal catchment 
detailed in the applicant’s submission to inform the approach of flexibility and format 
advised in the NPPF. 

However, it is acknowledged that the site already hosts an out of town retail 
development and it is the goods sold that are under consideration here; the variation of 
the conditions and the floorspace can only be available at the application site. This is a 
material consideration when applying the sequential approach. 

Two sites have been considered, the first being the site adjoining the Fire and Rescue 
centre, the former Fire And rescue service offices. However, it is understood that, since 
the site was marketed for sale by the County Council, the site has been acquired with 
the intention of redeveloping for some form of residential use. As such, it is considered 
that this site is not available, nor is it sequentially preferable, given its location outside of 
the town centre.   

The second site considered was the land to the west of the site, now being proposed for 
a retail store and also being considered at this Panel meeting.

Whilst it is noted that there are a number of vacant banks, pubs and shops within the 
town centre, these are not considered to be of a size or scale to accommodate the 
development proposed (or the retail unit taken in isolation) even when taking flexibility 
into account; the contrast in the proposed floor area and these available units is 
significant.

It is acknowledged that the adjoining site application (2/2018/0070) has considered 
significantly more alternatives sites but, even if those had been considered for this 
proposal, the conclusions would not have been different. 

The sequential test is considered to be passed.

Retail impact  

Page 10



Policy S16 of the Local Plan part 1 states; 

“Proposals for main town centre uses will be expected to be located within the existing 
centres. Retail development will be of a scale commensurate with the settlement’s role 
and function, and will not undermine the balance of the hierarchy. Applications for main 
town centre uses outside of these defined centres will be refused where the applicant 
has not demonstrated compliance with the sequential approach to site selection, or 
where there is clear evidence that the proposal would have a significant adverse impact 
on the vitality and viability of a nearby centre.”

Policy DM8 seeks impact assessments to retail proposals in Cockermouth exceeding 
300sqm. The National Planning Practice Guidance, a live on-line companion tool to the 
NPPF, advises that impact assessments are to ensure that the impact over time (up to 
five years, ten for major schemes) of certain out of centre and edge of centre proposals 
on existing town centres is not significantly adverse.
It also advises that such tests should be undertaken in a proportional and appropriate 
way, drawing on existing information where possible and dictating a checklist of criteria 
for consideration.

The baseline conditions are detailed in the Allerdale Retail Study (ARS) dating from July 
2015. Overall within Allerdale it identified the following trends:-

(i) Convenience –increased role of convenience stores, decline in weekly shops 
resulting in more frequent trips closer to home.

(ii) Comparison- recession has prompted traders to concentrate on their most 
successful trading centres, retailers focused on prime locations, increase in 
discount operators (including small towns), and reduction in DIY stores which aim 
to take up space in retail parks.

(iii) Internet- increased role in shopping market.
(iv) Independent Stores-Polarisation of high street is offering new opportunities for 

independent retailers, role of street markets and awareness of product sourcing –
resurgence of butchers, bakers etc.

It identifies Cockermouth as an attractive market town which offers a high quality 
shopping environment with a good range of independent shops, with limited 
representation from multiple retailers. It continues to have a lower vacancy rate than the 
national average. Cockermouth is the second most popular retail centre after 
Workington.
The Health Check Appraisal carried out as part of the 2015 Retail Study Update found 
that Cockermouth is a healthy town centre with a high level of vitality and viability.

In combining average sales density levels to capacity figures it gave an indication of the 
quantum floorspace that can be accommodated. The sales denisties quoted were 
£8,900/m2 for convenience goods and £4,200/m2 for comparison goods with the 
resultant capacity to the end of the plan period in 2029 of 870m² additional convenience 
and 1,690 m² comparison within the town. 

Page 11



The Council has recently considered and approved an application for retail development 
on the site of Travis Perkins, WCF and the former Petrol Filling Station on Station Road. 
This proposal would provide for:

- a Lidl foodstore with a gross internal area of 1,777 m2 and a net sales area of 
1,163 m2, split on the basis of 80% / 20%, comprising 930 m2 convenience and 
233 m2comparison floorspace; plus 

- a WCF store with a gross internal area of 677 m2 and a net sales area of 418 m2

The WCF element of the scheme is for a replacement of the existing building that is 
already present on the site. It is understood that the replacement WCF is under 
construction, but works to provide for the Lidl have not yet commenced. 

Assuming this Lidl is subsequently built, then the additional capacity identified within the 
Retail Study for convenience goods shopping in Cockermouth for this Local Plan period 
will have been met (and exceeded). The enlarged WCF would add 124 m² to the 
identified capacity of 1690 m² of comparison goods space, albeit this is a relatively 
specialist product. 

With regards to the proposal, it is assumed that the proposal could be implemented with 
immediate effect due to it not requiring any physical works. 

Following the Council’s peer review, the Retail Impact Assessment was updated by the 
applicant. A rate of £4,000/m2 was used for both comparison and convenience, the 
justification being that the unit will remain primarily a comparison goods retail unit, the 
food element being subservient to the non-food. The applicant specifically notes that 
“We are not applying for the unit to be subdivided to create a foodstore and a 
comparison goods store. Operators such as Home Bargains, B&M, Poundland, 
Poundstretcher etc all have one sales density for the floorspace, not two different rates 
for the different elements.” 

Table 9 of the Updated Retail Impact Assessment (RIAU) identifies the % and £m trade 
drawn to the proposal and this is identified below (2020).

  

The Council’s peer review consultants regards that the broad spread of impact appears 
reasonable. Rather than reflect the benchmark turnover of the out of centre stores from 
Cockermouth, it more closely reflects the shopper survey which in turn reflects shopping 
patterns and the survey defined turnover. 

Page 12



In terms of Cockermouth impact, the trade drawn from the town appears to be 
reasonable and proportionate to the shopping patterns in this area. The trade draw is 
identified below in both a standalone and a cumulative perspective. In this respect is it 
on the basis that The Lakes Homes Centre can commence selling a wider range of 
goods as soon as the condition is varied, with the LPA confirming that the Lidl is unlikely 
to be open until around Christmas 2018. As such the approach identified by the 
application in terms of the delivery of stores appears reasonable.
 
If the Lidl is treated as a development that does not clawback trade to the town centre 
then the Lidl and the two schemes currently subject to planning would have the 
following monetary impact on Cockermouth:

Given that Cockermouth has been identified in the Allerdale Retail Study and more 
recently in the two submission as being a healthy centre and the foodstores are 
identified to be ‘overtrading’ to the benefit of the centre, then this level of trade diversion 
would not be considered significantly adverse on the centre as a whole. This is even 
more so given the wider strength of the food and beverage sectors and the support 
provided by a level of tourist trade.

Furthermore, the Lidl has been approved as an edge of centre scheme within the town 
centre boundaries which is likely to enhance the turnover of the Cockermouth town 
centre. As such, whilst the proposal would draw trade from the town centre, the Lidl 
would claw some of this back and would be supported by other wider clawback. In this 
instance the impact would be just 1% as per the table below. 

Impact on consumer choice

It is accepted that the proposal would add to consumer choice, through the provision of 
a wider range of goods being made available at the site, although the scope to attract 
more people to Cockermouth town centre is debatable given the site’s location outside 
of the centre. This is also reflected in the applicant’s trade and the low level of 
clawback. 

Impact on vitality and viability

Page 13



There have been no closures in terms of the convenience goods element of the market, 
indicating that the independent operators are preforming to an adequate level. In terms 
of comparison goods, these would appear to be provided for at a level slightly in excess 
of the national average, and although this is down on the levels recorded in the ARS, it 
does not pose any significant concern overall. This is especially so given the level of 
tourist trade which is attracted to locations such as Cockermouth, which provide 
additional expenditure to support these operators and also operators such as food and 
beverage, who are noted to be plentiful in the centre (+10% when compared to the 
national average). 

The peer review refers to impact on investment and advises that the Council has 
confirmed that the Lidl is scheduled to be opened towards the end of the year. 
Furthermore, there is nothing to suggest that Lidl are considering not continuing with 
their development if this proposal is supported and they have not objected to the 
proposal. 

Overall given the levels of diversion on a proposal only and a cumulative basis with the 
Lidl, these would be unlikely to result in a significant adverse impact on the town centre. 
It is also considered that the edge of the edge of centre Lidl store is likely to provide 
some benefits to the centre of Cockermouth when it opens which should further support 
the centre.

Highways (Parking)

The merits of the parking issues solely relate to the matters arising from the 
development i.e. the existing shortfall is not a material consideration and it is the change 
arising from the proposed variation of the condition that is only relevant.

The National Planning Policy Framework specifies in Para 32 that “Development should 
only be prevented or refused on transport grounds where the residual cumulative 
impacts of development are severe”.
 
Policy S22’s objectives emphasises the need for development to be located in areas 
which reduce journey times and have safe convenient access to public transport and 
the towns services and utilities.

The store presently has a capacity of 109 parking spaces (including parking for the 
disabled). The proposal’s cumulative change of floorspace from comparison to 
convenience floorspace (alongside 2/2018/0051) would, under the County Council’s 
adopted parking standards, necessitate an additional 39 spaces.

However, as maximum standards to foster sustainability, other non-car modes of 
accessibility must be taken into consideration; it is only the residual car-borne demand 
that is relevant. 

In this context, it is noted that there is no record of on street parking in the locality 
deriving from the existing retail use. It is also important to note that the County 
Highways Authority raise no objections to the proposal.

Page 14



The Institution of Highways and Transportation (IHT) document 'Providing for Journeys 
on Foot’ (2000) considers acceptable walking distances for planning and evaluation 
purposes and indicates that a distance of 400m is acceptable for retail related 
development and 800m as the preferred maximum. For walkers, the site can be 
accessed on foot directly from the existing footways on Low Road, connecting to the 
east, and linking from there to the town centre. At the Low Road / Parklands Drive 
Roundabout a footway is available. Crossing facilities are present at the Roundabout in 
the form of dropped kerbs with tactile paving and a refuge island present on the western 
arm of the junction. The footways on Low Road are approximately 2m wide and benefit 
from street lighting and continue eastwards providing a direct link to Main Street in the 
town centre. This route into town offers a number of connections to other parts of the 
town. 
The eastern part of the town centre, The Parklands and The Laureates will be within an 
800m walking distance (10 mins), and Derwentside Gardens, Station Street and 
Brigham Road would be within a 1200m walking distance (15 mins). Existing bus stops 
on Crown Street and Gote Road are within the preferred maximum walking distance of 
800m to public transport facilities. The site is located adjacent to an existing bus 
corridor, the closest bus stops to the development site are located on Crown Street 
approximately 450m from the proposed retail store entrance. Bus stops are located on 
either side of the carriageway between the Aldi access junction and Horsman Street 
and are accessible via dropped kerbs. An additional stop is also location on Gote Road 
within approximately 350m of the site opposite the southbound carriageway on the 
bridge over the River Derwent. Further stops are located on Main Street. There are 
currently 11 and 10 services operating at existing bus stops in the vicinity of the site 
during the AM and PM peak periods, linking through to various locations (X4 and X5 
services provided by Stagecoach Bus). 

Whilst not directly adjoining a local or national cycle route, such routes are within 400 
and 600m of the site respectively and from these points, would connect the site to parts 
of Cockermouth and the wider area. Access to these local and national cycle routes 
would be predominantly along Low Road, which is presently 30mph limit. As such, this 
route to connect to these established cycle routes is considered to be safe. 
The residential properties within the Cockermouth area are located within a 2km 
catchment of the development site, which equates to an 8 approx. minute cycle time. 
This indicates that cycling would be an attractive mode of travel for local residents and 
staff accessing the proposed retail facilities. Cycle parking is provided within the 
scheme. 
On this basis, the proposal is considered to be accessible by a range of options other 
than the private car, and sustainable, in accordance with policies S2 and S22 of the 
ALP (Part 1). 

Officers would, however, recommend the inclusion of a travel plan condition to explore a 
range of additional mitigation initiatives e.g. cycle racks, car park management scheme 
to safeguard the capacity of the stores existing car parking facilities and reduce traffic 
trips. This is considered necessary, specifically in response to the change in goods sold 
within the main store; without a travel plan, the change is considered to result in 
additional demands for car-borne traffic and the Council needs to ensure that the 
existing non-car accessibility available is maximised.

Page 15



In terms of the relevant highways conditions from the original permission, No. 4 is no 
longer necessary given that it required highways works to be undertaken in response to 
the building of the store itself. Conditions 5 and 7 are amended to remove 
unenforceable elements (including those unenforceable under other regulations such as 
parking within the highway visibility splay). 

Landscaping 

To accord with development plan policies, landscaping is required in the interests of 
visual amenity and the balance between the natural and built environment, policies S2, 
S4, S33 and S35 being relevant. 

In this context it is noted that the soft landscaping required by the original condition 2 
was implemented and maintained for the required 5 years. A landscaping condition is 
no longer considered necessary. 

Foul and surface water drainage

Policy S29 of the Local Plan Part 1 is the relevant policy here. Conditions 8 and 11 of 
the original permission required implementation of the foul and surface water drainage. 
There is no longer any necessity for these conditions to remain. 

Pollution 

A condition is still considered necessary to accord with policy S36 of the Localk Plan 
Part 1.

Other conditions  

 Condition 10 - temporary construction fencing is no longer necessary.
 Condition 12 - lamp details - implemented and no longer necessary. 

Local Financial Considerations

Having regard to S70 (2) of the Town and Country Planning Act the nature of the 
proposal would not any financial considerations.

Conclusion

The merits of the variation are considered satisfactory. The retail evidence submitted in 
support of the application has been the subject of a peer review which is of the qualified 
opinion that the proposal in itself, and cumulatively alongside the details of 2/2018/0051 
would not have a significant adverse impact on the vitality or viability of the town centre.
Officers therefore consider the proposal therefore complies with the retail policy 
requirements of both Policy S16 and DM8 of the Allerdale Local Plan Part 1. The live 
application 2/2018/0070 has been afforded weight as a material consideration.

Page 16



The existing parking details, subject to a travel plan condition are considered satisfactory.

Page 17



Annex 1

Conditions

1. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out solely in accordance
with the following plans:
96059-00 Location Plan
Planting Layout Part 1
98059-01 Planting Layout Part 2
98059-01B Site Layout
Amendment Letter 01/02/99
98059-0 Elevations Sheet 1 of 2 Option 4 (amended plan received 01/02/99)
98059-0 Elevations Sheet 2 of 2 Option 4 (amended plan received 01/02/99)
Amendment Letter 26/02/99
98059-09P Drainage Layout Part 1 of 2 (amended plan received 26/02/99)
East Elevation (amended plan received 26/02/99)

Plans received relating to a condition application:
98059-10A Site, Planting and Drainage Layout Part 2 of 2 (Drainage Omitted) 
(received 19/04/99)
98059-11C Ground Floor Plan (received 19/04/99)
98059-12B Elevations Sheet 1 of 2 (received 19/04/99)
98059-13D Elevations Sheet 2 of 2 (received 19/04/99)
98059-14C Sections (received 19/04/99)
98059-16A Mezzanine Floor Plan (received 19/04/99)
Reason: In order to ensure that the development is carried out in complete 
accordance with the approved plans and any material and non-material alterations 
to the scheme are properly considered.

       2. Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General 
Permitted Development) Order 2015 (or any Order revoking and re-enacting 
that Order) relating to permitted development, no development shall be 
erected and no trees, bushes or other plants shall be planted or be 
permitted to grow within the visibility splays (providing clear visibility of 9.0 
metres x 120.0 metres measured down the centre of the access road and 
the near-side channel line of the major road) which obstruct the approved 
visibility splays.
Reason: To ensure a minimum standard of construction in the interest of public 
safety.

 3. The approved access and or parking provision  implemented at the site shall 
be retained and be capable of use at all times and shall not be removed or 
altered without the prior consent of the Local Planning Authority.
Reason: To ensure that proper access and parking provision is made and retained 
for use in relation to the development.

4. No development approved by this permission shall be used until a scheme 
for the provision of foul drainage works has been constructed and completed 
in accordance with the approved plans.
Reason: To avoid this risk of pollution to land or watercourses.

Page 18



       5. All areas used for the storage, handling, loading and unloading of fuels, oils, 
chemicals, or effluents must have an impermeable base, to prevent 
discharge of contaminated drainage or accidental spillages to underground 
strata or surface waters.
Reason: To prevent water pollution.

6. Prior to the commencement of any convenience shopping at the site, the 
applicant shall prepare and submit to the Local Planning Authority for their 
approval a Travel Plan which shall identify the measures that will be 
undertaken by the developer to encourage the achievement of a modal shift 
away from the use of private cars to visit the development to sustainable 
transport modes and safeguard the existing car parking facilities at the site. 
The convenience retail use shall not commence until the Travel Plan has 
been approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority and the measures 
identified in the Travel Plan shall be implemented by the developer within 12 
months of the development opening for business, and retained at all times 
thereafter.
Reason: To aid in the delivery of sustainable transport objectives in compliance 
with Policies S2 and S22 of the Allerdale local Plan.

7. The retail sales area of the ground floor shall not exceed 1826 sq m and of 
that sales area there shall not be more than 546 sq m (30%) available for the 
sale and display of convenience goods. The area available for the sale and 
display of comparison goods shall not exceed 1280 sq m (70%).
Reason: In order to safeguard the vitality and viability of the existing town centre 
and other retail units, in compliance with the National Planning Policy Framework 
and Policies S16 and DM8 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), Adopted July 2014.

Proactive Statement

Application Approved Without Amendment

The Local Planning Authority has acted positively and proactively in determining this 
application by assessing the proposal against all material considerations, including 
planning policies and any stakeholder representations that may have been received and 
subsequently determining to grant planning permission in accordance with the 
presumption in favour of sustainable development, as set out within the National 
Planning Policy Framework.  

Notes to 
Applicant:

Page 19



Monitoring Checklist 
Completed Date
Case Officer
Signature Date
Counter Signing
Officer Date

Page 20



Location plan

Location plan showing larger view

P
age 21



P
age 22



Allerdale Borough Council 
Planning Application 2/2018/0051

Proposed 
Development:

Application to vary condition
2 of planning application 2/2008/0533

Location: Lakes Home Centre
Low Road
Cockermouth

Applicant: P & J Lister
Lakes Home Store

Recommendation: APPROVE subject to the conditions recommended at Annex 1

Summary/Key Issues
Issue Conclusion

Retail impact on the 
vitality and viability 
of the town centre

Supporting retail statement submitted with the application was 
independently evaluated by a retail consultant commissioned 
by the Council. It is considered the proposal would not have an 
adverse impact on the vitality or viability of the  town centre

Variation to the 
types of goods 
allowed to be sold.

The variation of the goods to generic “convenience “ and 
“comparison” good types was included as part of the overall 
retail impact with no adverse impact on the vitality or viability of 
the  town centre  

Town Centre 
Viability

An acceptable sequential assessment has been provided which 
concludes that those sites in closer proximity to the town centre 
are neither suitable and/or available. The fact that the site 
operates as an existing retail store is a material consideration.

Highway impact The Highways Authority has raised no objection. 

Proposal

An internal mezzanine floor was approved under 2/2008/0533 with a condition to restrict 
the range of goods to safeguard the vitality and viability of the town centre.

However, the condition imposed on the mezzanine was more restrictive to exclude goods 
which could not be classed as bulky goods and could reasonably be expected to be sold 
in the town centre.

Page 23

Agenda Item 6



Condition 2 of the mezzanine consent states;

         “The mezzanine floor shall not be used for the sale of food, drink and tobacco (other than 
confectionary and pet foods), clothing and footwear including sportswear and children's 
clothing (other than protective footwear and protective clothing), books and magazines, 
toys and games, music, records, CD's, audio and video tapes (including hire), computer 
software, photographic goods, stationery and cards, china and glassware, household 
textiles and soft furnishings, non-durable household goods (such as cleaning products, 
etc.) fashion accessories (including handbags, luggage, watches, clocks and jewellery), 
chemist's goods, perfume and toiletries, sports equipment (other than bicycles), uses 
identified in paragraphs (b) to (f) and (h) to (j) of Class A1 of Part A of the Schedule to the 
Town and Country Planning (Use Classes) Order 1987 (as amended) (or any Order 
revoking and re-enacting that Order) without the prior consent of the Local Planning 
Authority.

Reason: In order to ensure that the additional retail floorspace does not adversely affect 
the vitality and viability of the town centre, in compliance with Policy RG2 of the Allerdale 
Local Plan (Part 1).”

The proposal seeks a new permission with a different condition to read:-
 
“The development shall comprise sales floor space totalling no more than 30% 
convenience floorspace and no less than 70% comparison floorspace.”

The accompanying Planning Statement to the application suggests that the application is 
necessary to “allow the retail unit to react more efficiently to changing retail 
circumstances, particularly as the sector shifts to a more online focus. The removal of the 
condition will allow the store to add further to the overall retail offer of the town and 
continue to complement the existing provision, retaining the maximum amount of spend 
within the town and aiding in the reduction of leakage to other areas.”  

No operational development is proposed. 

Site

The application site relates to an existing established out of town comparison store, 
located on the western perimeter of the town. Customer access to the site is via a mini-
roundabout junction onto Low Road which serves an ancillary car park of 109 spaces. A 
second service access from Low Road is located to the west of the store. This access 
also serves the application site for the retail store also considered by this meeting of the 
Development Panel (ref 2/2018/0070). 

Currently, there is a single operator trading from the site as the Lakes Home Centre and 
selling goods including furniture, decorative ornaments, garden plants, implements and 
machinery, home furnishings such as candles, towels etc. 

To the west is the abovementioned other application site. To the south is Low Road, the 
main artery into the town from the west. Beyond Low Road is the parkland of the Fitz (a 
grade II listed country house), the housing on Parklands Drive and the Lloyd motor 

Page 24



dealership. To the north and east is the River Derwent.

Relevant Planning History

In 1998 planning consent was approved under 2/1998/0862 for the erection of a DIY 
comparison goods retail store with associated access, parking, service yard and 
landscaping.

Further to the implementation of the permission the Council approved a further 
application (2/2008/0533) within the retail unit for the erection of an internal mezzanine 
floor for the retail sales of non-food items. The mezzanine is 874sqm in area.

The original applications 2/2016/0678 and 2/2016/0679 for this proposal were withdrawn 
due to the lack of detailed information on its retail impact. 

The current resubmission application has been submitted alongside another separate 
resubmission application 2/2018/0051 for the store’s first floor mezzanine which also 
seeks to vary a condition of its permission to similarly allow a 30/70% 
(convenience/comparison) split in the retail floorspace.

The neighbouring site to the west of the lakes centre has also been the subject of recent 
retail planning applications. The planning application 2/2016/0186, proposing a 1,486sqm 
foodstore and a non-food retail unit of 1,021sqm plus 465sqm mezzanine (which included 
a retail impact assessment) was refused on the grounds of the loss of employment land 
and the loss of trees protected under a Tree Preservation Order. 

The current application for that site, 2/2018/0070, seeks full permission for a 2043sqm 
retail store with 696sqm garden centre and an additional outline permission for a 464sqm 
unit for flexible employment use. 

Representations

Cockermouth Town council 

Recommend Approval

Cumbria County Council Highways 

No comment 

Cockermouth Civic Trust

Object – We are aware of another application for an adjacent site that has created the 
motivation and perceived need for this submission, however, until that application  
(2/2018/0070) is determined this application cannot be correctly assessed as the 
outcome of application 2/2018/0070 is a material consideration. We, therefore, request 

Page 25



that any decision is postponed until application 2/2018/0070 is determined, at which point 
this application can assessed against a different set of circumstances that exist now.

Individual/Other representations

The application has been advertised on site, within the press and by neighbour letter

Thirteen letters of objection have been received on the grounds of:

 Detrimental impact on town centre and the uniqueness of its independent traders 
 No change of circumstances since the granting of the consents whose conditions 

sought to protect the town’s retail centre.
 Items conditions enabled the store to complement the retail facilities in the town 

centre which appears to have worked well.
 The retail town centre has suffered 2 floods and austerity. 
 No consent has been granted for a B&Q on the neighbouring site which was 

refused on the grounds that it would damage the retail core-therefore no 
justification for amending the conditions. 

 Precedent for further edge of/out of town retail development adjacent to the site with 
associated cumulative impacts.

 Damaging impact if the store was sold with subsequent flexibility to sell any type of 
goods, with impacts on the retail offer of the town’s traders.

 The sustainability argument lacks evidence on the trading position of the town’s 
independent shops and little weight should be given to Sainsbury’s overtrading.

 Out of town retail is undesirable and should be resisted. Seek a vibrant centre with 
no empty shops.

 Size of store is more appropriate in Workington as the principle shopping 
destination.

 The submitted Allerdale Retail Survey is dated July 2015 prior to the floods and 
therefore does not provide an accurate picture. 

 Harmful impact on the gem town.
 Any jobs are likely to be limited hours on low wages and therefore the employment 

cannot be factored as a positive.
 Retail evidence contradicts claims of Sainsbury’s and Wilko’s laying off staff-no 

accounting of New Lidl store.
 Application site would become a one stop shopping destination with a free car park 

and accessibility to the town taking trade away from the town centre 
 Alternative empty premises in the town centre.
 Harmful impact on the mix of shops in the town and its shopping experience.
 Potential loss of local jobs in the town centre and deteriorating condition of its 

buildings.

Page 26



Duties 

Section 66 Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 requires that 
when considering whether to grant planning permission for development which affects a 
listed building or its setting, the local planning authority shall have special regard to the 
desirability of preserving the building or its setting or any features of special 
architectural or historic interest which it possesses. 

Section 72 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 requires 
that special attention shall be paid to the desirability of preserving or enhancing the 
character or appearance of a designated Conservation Area.    Planning (Listed 
Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990. 

The Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2010 state that competent 
authorities are required to make an appropriate assessment of any plan or project they 
intend to permit or carry out, if the plan or project is likely to have a significant effect 
upon a European site. The permission may only be given if the plan or project is 
ascertained to have no adverse effect upon the integrity of the European site. If the 
competent authority wishes to permit a plan or project despite a negative assessment, 
imperative reasons of over-riding public interest must be demonstrated, and there 
should be no alternative to the scheme. 

Regulation 9 (1) of the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2010 requires 
all public bodies to have regard to the requirements of the Habitats Directive in the 
exercise of their functions, particularly when determining a planning application for a 
development which may have an impact on European Protected Species ("EPS"), such 
as bats, great crested newts or otters.

Development Plan Policies

Allerdale Local Plan 1999 

Saved settlement limits 
Saved employment allocation – EM2. 

Allerdale Local Plan Part 1 (2014)

Policy S1 - Presumption in favour of sustainable development
Policy S2 - Sustainable development principles
Policy S3 - Spatial Strategy and Growth
Policy S4 - Design principles
Policy S5 - Development Principles
Policy S6c - Cockermouth  
Policy S12 – Land and Premises
Policy S16 - Town centres and retail
Policy S21 - Developer contributions 
Policy S22 – Transport Principles
Policy S24 - Green infrastructure

Page 27



Policy S27 - Heritage Assets
Policy S29 - Flood Risk and Surface Water Drainage
Policy S30 - Reuse of Land
Policy S32 - Safeguarding amenity
Policy S33 - Landscape
Policy S35 - Protecting and enhancing biodiversity and geodiversity
Policy S36 - Air, water and soil quality
Policy DM3 - Protection of Employment Sites
Policy DM8 - Protecting Town Centre Vitality and Viability
Policy DM14 - Standards of Good Design
Policy DM16 - Sequential Test for Previously Developed Land
Policy DM17 - Trees, hedgerows and woodland

Other material considerations 

Draft Allerdale Borough Local Plan (Part 2) 
National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) (2012)
Employment Land and Workspace Study 2016
Allerdale Retail Study 2015

Policy weighting 
Notwithstanding the duties outlined above, section 38(6) of the Planning and 

Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires that, if regard is to be had to the development 
plan for the purpose of any determination to be made under the planning Acts, the 
determination must be made in accordance with the plan unless material considerations 
indicate otherwise. This means that the Allerdale Borough Local Plan (Part 1) 2014 
policies have primacy.

A material consideration is the provisions of the NPPF. Paragraph 215 of the NPPF 
advises that the weight afforded to development plan policies can vary according to 
their degree of consistency with this framework (the closer the policies in the plan to the 
policies in the Framework, the greater the weight that may be given). 

In this instance, the Allerdale Local Plan (part 1) policies relevant to this site and 
proposal postdate and are consistent with NPPF and so full weight can be afforded to 
them. 

However, it is acknowledged that the saved settlement boundaries of the 1999 Plan are 
pending review and delivery of the part 1 Local Plan’s strategic policies is predicated on 
development beyond these limits. As such the weight afforded to these limits is 
tempered.
Employment sites and allocations dating from the 1999 Plan have been saved by virtue 
of Policy S12 of the 2014 Allerdale Local Plan, pending review through the site 
allocations process. Policy S12 is considered to accord with the NPPF, which supports 
sustainable economic development. This approach to employment sites and allocations 
has been supported by the Planning Inspectorate through a recent appeal decision at 
Solway Industrial Estate, Maryport (3187370).  

Page 28



Paragraph 216 of the NPPF advises that weight can be afforded to emerging plans, that 
weight dependent on the stage of preparation, the extent of unresolved objections and 
consistency with the provisions of the Framework. In this instance Part 2 of the Local 
Plan is at an early stage of preparation and is afforded very little weight in the 
assessment.
Assessment 

Introduction 

Section 73(2) of the 1990 Act states that “the local planning authority shall consider only 
the question of the conditions subject to which planning permission should be granted.”

The options open to this Authority are:-

A. If it is decided that permission should be granted subject to different conditions to 
those previously imposed or it should be granted unconditionally, then 
permission should be granted accordingly.

B. If it is decided that permission should be granted subject to the same conditions 
as previously imposed, then the s73 application should be refused. 

The principle of the store itself is not in question

Where an application under section 73 is granted, the effect is the issue of a new 
planning permission, sitting alongside the original permission, which remains intact and 
unamended. Given that a new permission is being considered, then the determination 
must be made in the context of current development plan policies and material 
considerations. In that regard, whilst condition 2 of the original permission is the focus of 
the applicant’s submission, the other condition (1) should be reviewed, but the Panel’s 
resolution must not fundamentally alter the proposal put forward in the original 
application. The review of the other condition assesses whether they it is still necessary, 
written in a way that is precise and enforceable, whether it is relevant to the 
development and planning and reasonable in all other respects.

Convenience goods are everyday essential items, such as food.  Comparison goods are 
retail items not bought on a frequent basis. The reason for the original retail goods 
planning condition was “In order to ensure that the additional retail floorspace does not 
adversely affect the vitality and viability of the town centre, in compliance with Policy 
RG2 of the Allerdale Local Plan.

It can be surmised that the bespoke condition was initially imposed seeking to protect 
retail trade within the town centre. However most current retail permissions alternatively 
refer to the two different distinctive generic categories of shopping ,which if deemed 
necessary, have  restricted floorspaces via planning condition (e.g. as imposed on the 
Lidl stores in Cockermouth, Wigton and Maryport).

Relationship to application 2/2018/0050 (s73 relating to the original store)  

Page 29



It is conceivable that the variation of the condition relating to the mezzanine (this 
application) and the original store need not be both implemented if granted and that the 
clear split in floor levels would enable enforcement of the respective conditions. 
Nevertheless, in practice, as a single retail unit, this is not very likely and it is 
reasonable to assume that the variation in goods to reflect the new conditions would be 
implemented simultaneously for both the mezzanine and main trading floor. Indeed, this 
is how the applicant’s assessments and the Council’s peer review have been 
undertaken. The following assessment therefore cites figures, when referring to the 
Lakes, for the combined floor space of the main trading floor and the mezzanine.

Town Centre Vitality and Viability

Policy S16 requires retail development to be located within existing centres and to be of 
a scale commensurate to the settlements role and function, so as to not undermine the 
settlement hierarchy. Further, Policy S16 requires that proposals for main town centre 
uses outside of defined centres will be refused where the applicant has not 
demonstrated compliance with the sequential approach to site selection, or where there 
is clear evidence that the proposal would have a significant adverse impact on the 
vitality and viability of a nearby centre.   Policy DM8 stipulates a threshold of 300sqm for 
retail development requiring impact assessment. 

The application site does not lie within or adjacent to Cockermouth town centre and 
therefore falls to be assessed as an out of centre site for the purposes of section 2 of 
the NPPF and policies S16 and DM8 of the Allerdale Local Plan. 

Sequential Test for retail

The building, its associated car parking and servicing extends to around 0.73ha. There 
is no flexibility demonstrated as part of the assessment. There is no formal catchment 
detailed in the applicant’s submission to inform the approach of flexibility and format 
advised in the NPPF. 

However, it is acknowledged that the site already hosts an out of town retail 
development and it is the goods sold that are under consideration here; the variation of 
the conditions and the floorspace can only be available at the application site. This is a 
material consideration when applying the sequential approach. 

Two sites have been considered, the first being the site adjoining the Fire and Rescue 
centre, the former Fire And rescue service offices. However, it is understood that, since 
the site was marketed for sale by the County Council, the site has been acquired with 
the intention of redeveloping for some form of residential use. As such, it is considered 
that this site is not available, nor is it sequentially preferable, given its location outside of 
the town centre.   

The second site considered was the land to the west of the site, now being proposed for 
a retail store and also being considered at this Panel meeting.

Whilst it is noted that there are a number of vacant banks, pubs and shops within the 
town centre, these are not considered to be of a size or scale to accommodate the 
development proposed (or the retail unit taken in isolation) even when taking flexibility 

Page 30



into account; the contrast in the proposed floor area and these available units is 
significant.

It is acknowledged that the adjoining site application (2/2018/0070) has considered 
significantly more alternatives sites but, even if those had been considered for this 
proposal, the conclusions would not have been different. 

The sequential test is considered to be passed.

Retail impact  

Policy S16 of the Local Plan part 1 states; 

“Proposals for main town centre uses will be expected to be located within the existing 
centres. Retail development will be of a scale commensurate with the settlement’s role 
and function, and will not undermine the balance of the hierarchy. Applications for main 
town centre uses outside of these defined centres will be refused where the applicant 
has not demonstrated compliance with the sequential approach to site selection, or 
where there is clear evidence that the proposal would have a significant adverse impact 
on the vitality and viability of a nearby centre.”

Policy DM8 seeks impact assessments to retail proposals in Cockermouth exceeding 
300sqm. The National Planning Practice Guidance, a live on-line companion tool to the 
NPPF, advises that impact assessments are to ensure that the impact over time (up to 
five years, ten for major schemes) of certain out of centre and edge of centre proposals 
on existing town centres is not significantly adverse.
It also advises that such tests should be undertaken in a proportional and appropriate 
way, drawing on existing information where possible and dictating a checklist of criteria 
for consideration.

The baseline conditions are detailed in the Allerdale Retail Study (ARS) dating from July 
2015. Overall within Allerdale it identified the following trends:-

(i) Convenience –increased role of convenience stores, decline in weekly shops 
resulting in more frequent trips closer to home.

(ii) Comparison- recession has prompted traders to concentrate on their most 
successful trading centres, retailers focused on prime locations, increase in 
discount operators (including small towns), and reduction in DIY stores which aim 
to take up space in retail parks.

(iii) Internet- increased role in shopping market.
(iv) Independent Stores-Polarisation of high street is offering new opportunities for 

independent retailers, role of street markets and awareness of product sourcing –
resurgence of butchers, bakers etc.

It identifies Cockermouth as an attractive market town which offers a high quality 
shopping environment with a good range of independent shops, with limited 
representation from multiple retailers. It continues to have a lower vacancy rate than the 
national average. Cockermouth is the second most popular retail centre after 
Workington.

Page 31



The Health Check Appraisal carried out as part of the 2015 Retail Study Update found 
that Cockermouth is a healthy town centre with a high level of vitality and viability.

In combining average sales density levels to capacity figures it gave an indication of the 
quantum floorspace that can be accommodated. The sales denisties quoted were 
£8,900/m2 for convenience goods and £4,200/m2 for comparison goods with the 
resultant capacity to the end of the plan period in 2029 of 870m² additional convenience 
and 1,690 m² comparison within the town. 

The Council has recently considered and approved an application for retail development 
on the site of Travis Perkins, WCF and the former Petrol Filling Station on Station Road. 
This proposal would provide for:

- a Lidl foodstore with a gross internal area of 1,777 m2 and a net sales area of 
1,163 m2, split on the basis of 80% / 20%, comprising 930 m2 convenience and 
233 m2comparison floorspace; plus 

- a WCF store with a gross internal area of 677 m2 and a net sales area of 418 m2

The WCF element of the scheme is for a replacement of the existing building that is 
already present on the site. It is understood that the replacement WCF is under 
construction, but works to provide for the Lidl have not yet commenced. 

Assuming this Lidl is subsequently built, then the additional capacity identified within the 
Retail Study for convenience goods shopping in Cockermouth for this Local Plan period 
will have been met (and exceeded). The enlarged WCF would add 124 m² to the 
identified capacity of 1690 m² of comparison goods space, albeit this is a relatively 
specialist product. 

With regards to the proposal, it is assumed that the proposal could be implemented with 
immediate effect due to it not requiring any physical works. 

Following the Council’s peer review, the Retail Impact Assessment was updated by the 
applicant. A rate of £4,000/m2 was used for both comparison and convenience, the 
justification being that the unit will remain primarily a comparison goods retail unit, the 
food element being subservient to the non-food. The applicant specifically notes that 
“We are not applying for the unit to be subdivided to create a foodstore and a 
comparison goods store. Operators such as Home Bargains, B&M, Poundland, 
Poundstretcher etc all have one sales density for the floorspace, not two different rates 
for the different elements.” 

Table 9 of the Updated Retail Impact Assessment (RIAU) identifies the % and £m trade 
drawn to the proposal and this is identified below (2020).

Page 32



  

The Council’s peer review consultants regards that the broad spread of impact appears 
reasonable. Rather than reflect the benchmark turnover of the out of centre stores from 
Cockermouth, it more closely reflects the shopper survey which in turn reflects shopping 
patterns and the survey defined turnover. 

In terms of Cockermouth impact, the trade drawn from the town appears to be 
reasonable and proportionate to the shopping patterns in this area. The trade draw is 
identified below in both a standalone and a cumulative perspective. In this respect is it 
on the basis that The Lakes Homes Centre can commence selling a wider range of 
goods as soon as the condition is varied, with the LPA confirming that the Lidl is unlikely 
to be open until around Christmas 2018. As such the approach identified by the 
application in terms of the delivery of stores appears reasonable.
 
If the Lidl is treated as a development that does not clawback trade to the town centre 
then the Lidl and the two schemes currently subject to planning would have the 
following monetary impact on Cockermouth:

Given that Cockermouth has been identified in the Allerdale Retail Study and more 
recently in the two submission as being a healthy centre and the foodstores are 
identified to be ‘overtrading’ to the benefit of the centre, then this level of trade diversion 
would not be considered significantly adverse on the centre as a whole. This is even 
more so given the wider strength of the food and beverage sectors and the support 
provided by a level of tourist trade.

Furthermore, the Lidl has been approved as an edge of centre scheme within the town 
centre boundaries which is likely to enhance the turnover of the Cockermouth town 
centre. As such, whilst the proposal would draw trade from the town centre, the Lidl 
would claw some of this back and would be supported by other wider clawback. In this 
instance the impact would be just 1% as per the table overleaf. 

Page 33



Impact on consumer choice

It is accepted that the proposal would add to consumer choice, through the provision of 
a wider range of goods being made available at the site, although the scope to attract 
more people to Cockermouth town centre is debatable given the site’s location outside 
of the centre. This is also reflected in the applicant’s trade and the low level of 
clawback. 

Impact on vitality and viability

There have been no closures in terms of the convenience goods element of the market, 
indicating that the independent operators are preforming to an adequate level. In terms 
of comparison goods, these would appear to be provided for at a level slightly in excess 
of the national average, and although this is down on the levels recorded in the ARS, it 
does not pose any significant concern overall. This is especially so given the level of 
tourist trade which is attracted to locations such as Cockermouth, which provide 
additional expenditure to support these operators and also operators such as food and 
beverage, who are noted to be plentiful in the centre (+10% when compared to the 
national average). 

The peer review refers to impact on investment and advises that the Council has 
confirmed that the Lidl is scheduled to be opened towards the end of the year. 
Furthermore, there is nothing to suggest that Lidl are considering not continuing with 
their development if this proposal is supported and they have not objected to the 
proposal. 

Overall given the levels of diversion on a proposal only and a cumulative basis with the 
Lidl, these would be unlikely to result in a significant adverse impact on the town centre. 
It is also considered that the edge of the edge of centre Lidl store is likely to provide 
some benefits to the centre of Cockermouth when it opens which should further support 
the centre.

Highways (Parking)

The merits of the parking issues solely relate to the matters arising from the 
development i.e. the existing shortfall is not a material consideration and it is the change 
arising from the proposed variation of the condition that is only relevant.

The National Planning Policy Framework specifies in Para 32 that “Development should 
only be prevented or refused on transport grounds where the residual cumulative 
impacts of development are severe”.
 

Page 34



Policy S22’s objectives emphasises the need for development to be located in areas 
which reduce journey times and have safe convenient access to public transport and 
the towns services and utilities.

The store presently has a capacity of 109 parking spaces (including parking for the 
disabled). The proposal’s cumulative change of floorspace from comparison to 
convenience floorspace (alongside 2/2018/0051) would, under the County Council’s 
adopted parking standards, necessitate an additional 39 spaces.

However, as maximum standards to foster sustainability, other non-car modes of 
accessibility must be taken into consideration; it is only the residual car-borne demand 
that is relevant. 

In this context, it is noted that there is no record of on street parking in the locality 
deriving from the existing retail use. It is also important to note that the County 
Highways Authority raise no objections to the proposal.

The Institution of Highways and Transportation (IHT) document 'Providing for Journeys 
on Foot’ (2000) considers acceptable walking distances for planning and evaluation 
purposes and indicates that a distance of 400m is acceptable for retail related 
development and 800m as the preferred maximum. For walkers, the site can be 
accessed on foot directly from the existing footways on Low Road, connecting to the 
east, and linking from there to the town centre. At the Low Road / Parklands Drive 
Roundabout a footway is available. Crossing facilities are present at the Roundabout in 
the form of dropped kerbs with tactile paving and a refuge island present on the western 
arm of the junction. The footways on Low Road are approximately 2m wide and benefit 
from street lighting and continue eastwards providing a direct link to Main Street in the 
town centre. This route into town offers a number of connections to other parts of the 
town. 
The eastern part of the town centre, The Parklands and The Laureates will be within an 
800m walking distance (10 mins), and Derwentside Gardens, Station Street and 
Brigham Road would be within a 1200m walking distance (15 mins). Existing bus stops 
on Crown Street and Gote Road are within the preferred maximum walking distance of 
800m to public transport facilities. The site is located adjacent to an existing bus 
corridor, the closest bus stops to the development site are located on Crown Street 
approximately 450m from the proposed retail store entrance. Bus stops are located on 
either side of the carriageway between the Aldi access junction and Horsman Street 
and are accessible via dropped kerbs. An additional stop is also location on Gote Road 
within approximately 350m of the site opposite the southbound carriageway on the 
bridge over the River Derwent. Further stops are located on Main Street. There are 
currently 11 and 10 services operating at existing bus stops in the vicinity of the site 
during the AM and PM peak periods, linking through to various locations (X4 and X5 
services provided by Stagecoach Bus). 

Whilst not directly adjoining a local or national cycle route, such routes are within 400 
and 600m of the site respectively and from these points, would connect the site to parts 
of Cockermouth and the wider area. Access to these local and national cycle routes 
would be predominantly along Low Road, which is presently 30mph limit. As such, this 
route to connect to these established cycle routes is considered to be safe. 

Page 35



The residential properties within the Cockermouth area are located within a 2km 
catchment of the development site, which equates to an 8 approx. minute cycle time. 
This indicates that cycling would be an attractive mode of travel for local residents and 
staff accessing the proposed retail facilities. Cycle parking is provided within the 
scheme. 
On this basis, the proposal is considered to be accessible by a range of options other 
than the private car, and sustainable, in accordance with policies S2 and S22 of the 
ALP (Part 1). 

Officers would, however, recommend the inclusion of a travel plan condition to explore a 
range of additional mitigation initiatives e.g. cycle racks, car park management scheme 
to safeguard the capacity of the stores existing car parking facilities and reduce traffic 
trips. This is considered necessary, specifically in response to the change in goods sold 
within the mezzanine; without a travel plan, the change is considered to result in 
additional demands for car-borne traffic and the Council needs to ensure that the 
existing non-car accessibility available is maximised.

Other conditions  

The only other condition was the standard 3 year commencement which, given the 
implementation of the mezzanine, is no longer necessary. 

Local Financial Considerations

Having regard to S70 (2) of the Town and Country Planning Act the nature of the 
proposal would not any financial considerations.

Conclusion

The merits of the variation are considered satisfactory. The retail evidence submitted in 
support of the application has been the subject of a peer review which is of the qualified 
opinion that the proposal in itself, and cumulatively alongside the details of 2/2018/0050 
would not have a significant adverse impact on the vitality or viability of the town centre.
Officers therefore consider the proposal therefore complies with the retail policy 
requirements of both Policy S16 and DM8 of the Allerdale Local Plan Part 1. The live 
application 2/2018/0070 has been afforded weight as a material consideration.

The existing parking details, subject to a travel plan condition are considered 
satisfactory.
 

Page 36



Annex 1
.
1. The retail sales area of the mezzanine shall not exceed 874sq m and of that 

sales area there shall not be more than 262 sq m (30%) available for the sale 
and display of convenience goods. The area available for the sale and display 
of comparison goods shall not exceed 612 sq m (70%).
Reason: In order to safeguard the vitality and viability of the existing town centre 
and other retail units, in compliance with the National Planning Policy Framework 
and Policies S16 and DM8 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), Adopted July 2014.

2. The change of goods sold as hereby permitted shall not commence until a 
Travel Plan has been submitted to and approved in writing by the local 
planning authority and shall be implemented within 12 months of being 
brought into use.
Reason: To aid in the delivery of sustainable transport objectives in accordance with 
Policy S22 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1) 2014.

3. Upon commencement of the change of goods hereby approved, an annual 
report reviewing the effectiveness of the Travel Plan associated with that 
change and including any necessary amendments or measures, as well as 
timing for their implementation, shall be submitted to and approved in writing  
by the Local Planning Authority. Any amendments hereby approved shall be 
implemented in accordance with the approved timescales. 
Reason: To aid in the delivery of sustainable transport objectives from the 
operational use of the site in accordance with Policy S22 of the Allerdale Local Plan 
(Part 1) 2014.

Page 37



Location plan

P
age 38



Location plan showing larger scale

P
age 39



T
his page is intentionally left blank

P
age 40



Allerdale Borough Council 
Planning Application 2/2018/0070

Proposed 
Development:

Hybrid application - Erection of retail unit (Class A1) with external 
garden centre (Full Application), Employment unit (Class B1, B2, 
and B8) (Outline Application with details of appearance reserved), 
including access, parking, landscaping and associated works.

Location: Land at
Low Road
Cockermouth

Applicant: Opus Land North (Cockermouth) Ltd

Recommendation: APPROVE subject to the conditions recommended at Annex 
1 and the signing of a s106 agreement to secure financial 
sums for the monitoring of a Travel Plan and the 
implementation of a Traffic Regulation Order if necessary.

Summary/Key Issues
Issue Conclusion

Principle of the 
development

Development of the scale proposed in general terms is 
considered to be appropriate in terms of the functional role of 
Cockermouth as a key service town within the settlement 
hierarchy.

Redevelopment of the eastern part of the site which has 
previously been developed would accord with Policies S3 and 
S30 for the re-use of previously developed land.
The proposed uses would be generally compatible with existing 
commercial and residential development to the east. 

Loss of 
Employment 
Allocation

Following external review of the marketing exercise undertaken 
to date for the existing employment allocation, it is considered 
that the site has been marketed appropriately and for a 
reasonable period. The criteria of Policy DM3 for the release of 
allocated employment sites is considered to be met and the 
proposed mixed use scheme is the next sequentially preferable 
option. 

Page 41

Agenda Item 7



Town Centre 
Viability

An acceptable sequential assessment has been provided which 
concludes that those sites in closer proximity to the town centre 
are neither suitable and/or available. 
An impact assessment has been provided by the applicant for 
the revised retail scheme and this has been reviewed on behalf 
of the Council by external consultants. This review concludes 
that the proposal, either individually or cumulatively with the 
consented development of WCF/Lidl and the proposed 
changes to the types of goods sold at the adjacent Lakes 
Home Centre, would not have a significant adverse impact on 
the vitality and viability of Cockermouth town centre principally, 
or other centres in the locality. 

Visual Impact/Loss 
of Trees

The proposal would result in a significant change overall in the 
appearance of the site, particularly the removal of trees, and 
would extend the built form of the town to the west by approx. 
300m. However, it must be borne in mind that at least part of 
the site is allocated for development and the built form of the 
town has been extended west through the construction of 
housing at The Laureates. The development as proposed 
reflects the layout of retail and commercial development 
existing to the east. On balance, therefore, the visual impacts of 
the proposal are considered to be suitably mitigated by the 
proposed landscaping scheme and the proposal is therefore 
considered acceptable with regards to relevant policies of the 
Allerdale Local Plan.

Flood Risk Officers are satisfied that sufficient attempts have been made 
to consider sequentially preferable sites in relation to flood risk. 
Whilst some sites within Flood Zone 1 were identified, these 
were considered to be in locations unsuitable for retail 
development. 
The Local Lead Flood Authority has raised no objection in 
relation to flood risk, subject to conditions.

Highway impact The Highways Authority has raised no objection to the creation 
of a new access off Low Road to serve the proposal, utilising 
the existing service road at the Lakes Home Centre for 
deliveries etc. Whilst concerns were initially raised relating to 
the level of car parking proposed, following the provision of 
additional information relating to the garden centre and by 
restricting the floor area of the proposed employment unit for 
(should it be utilised for a B1 use), these objections have been 
withdrawn and the level of parking provision is considered to be 
acceptable. 

Albeit an edge of centre, the site is considered to be accessible 
by a range of options, other than the private car and therefore 
sustainable. Financial contributions are required relating to 

Page 42



Travel Plan monitoring and the creation of a Traffic Regulation 
Order for Low Road to restrict parking, should this become 
necessary in the future.  

Heritage The proposal lies opposite a Grade II listed building, The Fitz, 
and within close proximity to the Papcastle and Cockermouth 
conservation areas. The significance of these assets has been 
considered and the likely impact of the proposal on this 
significance. It is considered that the proposal will result in 
harm to the setting of these heritage assets which is considered 
to be less than substantial. The public benefits of the scheme 
are considered to outweigh this harm, when applying the 
importance and special weight given to the preservation of the 
setting of listed buildings and conservations by s66 and s72 of 
the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 
1990.  

Ecology The application has been subject to an Appropriate 
Assessment of Effects for the river Derwent SAC/SSSI.
Subject to a number of conditions including those for 
preventing pollution to the river Derwent, for the protection of 
nesting birds and the control of Himalayan Balsam, the 
ecological implications are considered to be acceptable.  

Proposal

The proposal is a hybrid application. A full application is submitted for the erection of a 
retail unit (Class A1) with external garden centre, and an outline application is 
submitted for an employment unit (Class B1, B2, or B8) with only detail of appearance 
reserved for future approval. The proposal includes details of the proposed access 
and parking provision, layout of the buildings and landscaping, and the design and 
scale of the proposed retail unit, on land at Low Road in Cockermouth.  

The application site measures approx. 1.39 hectares and the proposed site layout 
plan shows the provision of one retail unit to the eastern end of the application site 
and an employment unit to the western end of the site. 

The proposed retail unit is identified to extend to 2,043sqm (gross), of this the 
submission clarifies that the floor space is intended to be split 85% comparison goods 
and 15% convenience goods, although some flexibility is sought on this. The 
submission also includes a garden centre extending to 697sqm, giving a combined 
total of 2740sqm. The proposed retail unit measures approx. 34m in width x 62.5m in 
length and 9.5m in total height (9.1m to parapet height), with the additional garden 
centre extending out from the south east corner of the proposed building. A service 
yard would be located to the north east corner, accessed from the existing road 
servicing the Lakes Home Centre. 

Page 43



It has been confirmed by the applicant that the intended operator would be B&M 
Homestore. However, Members are reminded that in planning terms, the proposal 
must be considered as a retail unit (A1 use class), irrespective of any identified 
operator as this is not guaranteed or controlled through the planning process.  

The submission indicates that the range of goods in a B&M Homestore focuses on 
bulky goods including indoor and outdoor furniture, gardening products, home textiles, 
household goods, homewares including small domestic electrical goods, home 
adornment, seasonal items particularly at Christmas, pet supplies, luggage, 
kitchenware, garden centre items, paint, wallpaper and DIY products. Other products 
include the sale of some toys. B&M Homestore also retail an ancillary range of food 
and drink goods with a limited amount of perishable goods. 

The proposed employment unit measures 12m in width x 42m in length and seeks 
permission for an open B1(Business), B2 (General Industry) and B8 (Storage and 
Distribution) uses to ensure flexibility for future occupiers. 

Between the proposed retail unit and employment unit, the plans indicate the 
provision of a new access road off Low Road and 106 parking spaces (including 10 
disabled bays). 
 
Landscaping plans have been provided indicating that the majority of trees on site are 
to be removed, with a small number retained towards the western boundary. 
Replacement tree planting and hedgerow are proposed to the site frontage, along with 
a native hedgerow to the full length of the rear boundary (northern boundary) and to 
the perimeter of the proposed garden centre. Replacement tree planting totals 43. 

Site

The site relates to an area of land extending to approx. 1.39ha. The site is linear in 
nature, with a wider section at the eastern end, narrowing to the west. The application 
site is located towards the western end of Cockermouth and to the immediate west of 
the Lakes Home Centre. The site is bounded to the south by Low Road, with the Fitz 
(Grade II Listed Building) and its associated parkland beyond, by the Lakes Home 
Centre to the east, and by a small depot to the west. Further south west is the 
residential development, The Laureates. To the north is open flat land, including the 
River Derwent. The land further north begins to rise towards the settlement of 
Papcastle. To the north, south and partly to the west therefore, surrounding land is 
relatively undeveloped, whereas to the east, land uses are predominantly commercial 
(Lakes Homes Centre, Aldi and Lloyd’s garage) and residential on the approach into 
the town. 

The frontage section of the site contains the former railway sidings, which rise up from 
the highway by approx. 3.0m in parts. This banking has been unmanaged for a 
considerable period, which has resulted in a belt of informal vegetation and tree 
growth, some of which are substantial in size. This woodland screen is part of a wider 
linear stretch of woodland along parts of this route into the town, which, along with 
sections of stone walling and hedgerow, create a pleasant green corridor adjacent to 
the highway. To the eastern end of the site, a large earth bund, present in 2016, has 

Page 44



been removed, and the remains of former uses at the eastern end of the site are 
limited to areas of hardstanding. The remainder of the site is largely rough ground or 
scrub, with some hedging and further trees. A sewer runs along the rear (northern) 
boundary of the site. 

Part of the site is allocated within the Allerdale Local Plan for employment use 
(allocation EM2). The remaining part of the site falls outside of the settlement limit for 
Cockermouth. A Tree Preservation Order covers the collective trees along much of 
the site frontage and part of central and rear section of the site towards the west.

Relevant Planning History

A screening opinion for the proposal concluded the development did not constitute 
EIA development. 

2/2016/0186 – Proposed Foodstore (Class A1) and Non Food Retail Unit (Class A1), 
Customer Car Parking, Access, Landscaping and associated works. Refused August 
2016. This proposal sought planning permission for two new retail units each 
measuring 1,486 m2 gross internal area (GIA). The reasons for refusal were:

1. The local planning authority considers that the proposal would result in the loss 
of saved employment allocation EM2 to the detriment of the current and future 
needs of the spatial strategy and growth for Cockermouth as a key service 
centre, contrary to Policies S3, DM3 and S12 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 
1) Adopted 2014.

2. The proposal would result in the loss of existing trees protected under Tree 
Preservation Order 1987 No.2 (Low Road, Cockermouth) to the detriment of 
the visual amenities and character of the locality and the approach to the town 
centre, contrary to Policies S33 and DM17 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1) 
Adopted 2014.

Representations

Town Council 

Recommended refusal due to:

1. Town prosperity analysis incorrect. The analysis was carried out before the 
2015 floods and does not consider the loss of trade which followed those floods 
or the impact of subsequent developments. Analysis needs to be robustly 
challenged. Independent survey requested.

2. The Local Plan has a clear hierarchy of settlements. The B & M store proposed 
is much larger than the Workington store. It should be in a Principal Service 
Centre not a Key Service Centre.

3. The loosest application of the sequential test has been applied. Land which is 
not obviously for sale and potential development opportunities should be 
properly explored and considered.

Page 45



4. The land is designated employment land in the Local Plan.

A second response from the Town Council retains this objection and states:
1. The Local Plan has a clear hierarchy of settlements. The B & M Store
proposed is much larger than the Workington store. It should be in a Principle Service 
Centre not a Key Service Centre.
2. The loosest application of the sequential test has been applied. Land which is not 
obviously for sale and potential development opportunities should be properly 
explored and considered.
3. The land is designated employment land in the Local Plan.
4. Flexibility in relation to issues such as format and scale has not been shown.
5. If approval is given, the developer should be obligated to provide a crossing with 
lights which connects to the existing pedestrian route.

Cockermouth Civic Trust 

Objection. The retail statement fails on a number of points: 
(1) The submitted sequential test appears only to assess empty, undeveloped 

sites and not existing developed areas. We contest that this is not in the spirit 
of a sequential tests purpose, that is to encourage regeneration and continued 
use of existing town centres and therefore ensure their vitality. Simply arguing 
that units are currently occupied and therefore not available is not adequate. 
Whilst we do not advocate the loss of any existing retail outlets, two units of 
comparable size exist at Wilkos and Mitchells Auction House. Evidence should 
be made available that these sites have been appropriately explored and 
financial offers made and subsequently rejected before exploring other more 
distantly located sites. Given these omissions, of which there may be more, we 
do not believe the sequential test is passed.

(2) The retail assessment states that it does not need to consider the impact of 
any store on other service centres. This is not the case, the Local Plan clearly 
states that development should not undermine the balance of the hierarchy. 
That is, all new large retail sites should seek to locate in Workington first, 
followed by Maryport. Without analysing the effect of a store of this nature and 
size on these service centres it cannot be assumed that the hierarchy set out 
in the Local Plan is not undermined.

(3) Material consideration of the impact of the floods of 2009 and 2015 along with 
the high probability of future flooding must be included in any assessment. 
Numerous reports and risk studies by independent groups, The Environment 
Agency and other academic institutions all indicate Cockermouth will flood 
again despite the improved defences and possible future flood alleviation 
projects. Past and future flooding events will undoubtedly have a negative 
impact on both the viability and vitality of the town, therefore, must be taken in 
to account when measuring any surplus in trading.

(4) The current retail assessment suggests that approximately £0.88m will be 
diverted from the town centre and is deemed an acceptable level of trade loss. 
In normal circumstances where trade is not likely to be significantly impacted 
by events such as floods, such a diversion of trade is likely to be absorbed with 
little or no adverse impact. However, Cockermouth is unique in the fact that it 
has suffered two major floods that have led to the temporary closure of 75% of 

Page 46



its town centre for up to a year or more. The cost of restoration work and 
associated loss of trade, and significantly increased insurance premiums 
(where it is available) have had a significant impact on the viability of the town. 
Any surplus in trade must be seen in this context and recognised not as 
surplus but as on-going cost that must be set aside to cover future inevitable 
flood events.

Cumbria Highways (CCC) 

1st Response – Recommend refusal due to shortfall in parking provision. 
The Highways Authority confirm that the scheme is acceptable in other respects 
(visibility splays, flood risk and drainage, servicing) subject to conditions to secure the 
visibility at the new access, that the flood risk management plan is adhered to, a 
detailed drainage scheme. Recommend that street lighting is extended past the site 
entrance). 

2nd Response – Recommend approval subject to conditions and a S106 Agreement to 
secure Travel Plan monitoring and Traffic Regulation Order.
The Highways Authority has removed its objection to the level of parking provision 
proposed on the basis that the applicant has put forward additional information 
relating to the ancillary nature of the proposed garden centre and that this floor area 
/use would not in itself generate a need for parking as trips to the garden centre would 
be linked and ancillary to visits to the wider store. This has resulted in a reduction in 
the need for 35 spaces. Further, the applicant has agreed that should the employment 
use be taken up for B1 office space, then the usable floor area would be restricted to 
single storey only (509sqm), resulting in a reduced need for a further 20 spaces. 

Environmental Health 

Request conditions relating to land contamination and recommend that a condition is 
applied to any approval granted prohibiting the use of reverse bleepers on site  - 
reversing will be controlled by a banksman only.

Fire Officer 

No comments received. 

Environment Agency 

Raise no objection subject to conditions to address possible contaminated land. With 
regards to flood risk, the application site lies within Flood Zone 2, which is defined as 
having a medium probability of flooding in the National Planning Practice Guidance. In 
accordance with the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF), the application is 

Page 47



accompanied by a Flood Risk Assessment (FRA). With reference to the Planning 
Practice Guide to the National Planning Policy Framework the application would be 
classified as less vulnerable development.  The proposed development is therefore 
now covered by our Flood Risk Standing Advice. 

County Archaeologist 

The site is within an area of high archaeological potential, on the edge of an extensive 
Roman settlement that developed next to the Roman Fort at Papcastle. Conditions 
sought requiring archaeological investigation and recording prior to any development 
commencing. 

Natural England 

Conditions recommended relating to:

 Construction Environmental Management Plan (CEMP) 
 Finalised Surface Water drainage plan
 Invasive Species Management Plan for Himalayan balsam 

identified on site
 Investigation and potential remediation of contaminated land
 Reptile survey

To ensure no adverse impacts result in relation to the internationally designated SAC 
and SSSI on the River Derwent. Without these measures, these sites could be 
adversely affected. 

Cumbria Wildlife Trust 

No comments received.  

Cumbria Constabulary 

Requests additional information relating to how crime and anti-social behaviour would 
be reduced through the design of the scheme. 

United Utilities 

Recommend conditions relating to drainage. Advise presence of sewer crossing the 
site. 

Individual/Other representations

The application has been advertised on site, within the press and by neighbour letter.  

201 letters of objection have been received to date. The grounds for objection are 
summarised as follows:

Page 48



 No need for the proposal or another discount retailer
 Harm to local business, particularly independent retailers, which will impact on 

residents and tourist trade alike. The majority of trade diversion will actually be 
associated with the small independent retailers that give Cockermouth its 
character. It would not be unreasonable to predict that this development would 
lead to the closure of several of the existing independent town centre 
businesses.

 Where is the evidence that town centre shops are over-trading, they are just 
getting back on their feet following the floods

 Key approach into Gem Town
 Policy advice against developing floodplain
 Can sewage works accommodate additional development?
 Overdevelopment when related to population of the town?
 Out of town retail shopping outlets with free parking kills towns centres and 

their high streets
 Jobs created are likely to be limited hours, on low wages
 Reports don’t acknowledge how trade has been affected by floods
 Deprive centre of much needed footfall and trade, people will drive to the out of 

centre retail units existing then continue to this one. 
 FRA is not considering risk of flooding to others from development of the site, 

only risk to the site itself. 
 Not a suitable store for the edge of this Gem town
 This land is designated brownfield industrial B1,B2,B8 with employment 

commitment and should be developed accordingly.
 Inappropriate development in an out of town location, which will stop people 

going to the town centre.
 Note the number of vacant shops, pubs, hotels & banks - there are 3 empty 

shops plus a bank (HSBC) on Main Street, 4 empty shops in Market Place, 1 in 
Kings Arms Lane, and 2 empty shops plus another bank (NatWest) in Station 
Street; a total of 10 empty shops and 2 banks.

 Although the proposed development is offering what appears to be a significant 
number of new jobs, this needs to be weighed up against potential jobs lost 
from shops on Cockermouth Main Street.

 The applicant’s Planning and Retail Statement relies on outdated information 
and speculation for much of its support of the planning application.

 Development by the Oakhurst garage which already has a detrimental effect on 
the centre of the town.

 Loss of gem status will impact on house prices
 Increased likelihood of vandalism on empty retail properties in the town
 Proposals exceed the requirement for convenience goods identified in the 2015 

Retail Study commissioned by Allerdale Borough Council. 
 Proposal is beyond the settlement limit. 
 Site is frequented by bats, squirrels and other wildlife.
 This tree lined route into town remains attractive. There are now new TPOs in 

place and yet mature trees would have to be removed to facilitate the 
development.

 Cockermouth needs more leisure activities to support tourism, not more big 
brand shops to make the town centre redundant.

Page 49



 For a town on Cockermouth’s type and existing retail provision, the size and 
nature of the proposed store is entirely inappropriate.

 Do not want the first impression of our town to be one of discount megastores.
 As a town centre retailer, this development threatens 20% of our turnover and, 

in turn, our employment of at least 1 employee and possibly the long term 
future of the business as a whole and the jobs of 5 people.

 The Lakes Homecentre will be affected the most if this development goes 
ahead. The proposed store has a selling policy to undercut other existing 
retailers forcing them to cut margins to compete. This along with the inevitable 
diluted sales and loss of income would undoubtedly result in job losses for 
some of our (Lakes Home Centre) 55 full and part time staff.

 Percyhouse Gallery is set in a Grade 2 star listed building in the heart of the 
Cockermouth Conservation Area. The business employs three people and 
turnover has struggled to recover after twice being flooded out. The future of 
the historic building, the oldest in town, aside from the castle, currently relies 
on the viability of the gallery. Any reduction in footfall and trade could easily 
see the building again left closed up as it had been prior to the gallery opening. 
Evidence of the existing threats to town centre viability can be seen by the 
number of charity shops now taking units that have failed to find commercial 
occupants.

 The anticipated impact for Fagans from this direct conflict would inevitably lose 
us sufficient trade to necessitate the reduction of employees in our business. 
We are currently supporting 10 employees and envisage a potential loss of 2 to 
3.

 Site is likely to contain historical archives of great significance.
 Loss of trees would have a severe detrimental impact on visual amenity.
 Add light pollution and extend the boundaries of the town beyond Parklands. 
 Proposal will cause traffic holdups and disruption especially at peak times.
 My business (The Linden Tree) currently employs three staff, but with any 

further loss of footfall in the future, I would very reluctantly be forced to 
consider redundancies.

 This is not a regeneration scheme.
 The reality is that there are relatively few houses within walking distance and 

that almost all access would be by private car. 
 The development will increase car usage
 This submission suggests the majority of the retail abstraction occurs from 

Workington Town Centre and Derwent Howe (£3.76m of the £5.5m total for 
comparison goods). This is presumably on the basis that Cockermouth 
residents switch from going to Workington to go to B&M Cockermouth instead. 
This analysis appears to me to be unrealistic for the simple reason that 
Cockermouth residents will continue to go to Workington because of the whole 
range of additional major shop outlets which are available there (e.g. Marks 
and Spencer, B&Q, Tesco, Asda etc.) and that any transfer back to 
Cockermouth because of B&M will be minimal.

 Overdevelopment in this sector when looked at from the point of town 
population?

 Having woodland in the floodplain is of great benefit for flood alleviation.
 The wooded nature of the site provides visitors to and residents of 

Page 50



Cockermouth a green welcome to the own which adds value to the town, its 
status and encourages people to return. Contrary to this having B&M at the 
end trance to Cockermouth will change the sense of the town as you enter 
which may impact the desirability of the town as a place to visit.

 The site provides an important woodland adjacent to the river corridor.
 Ecological Appraisal is not fit for purpose and Brooks are not competent 

ecological consultants as they fail to mention that Otter and Bats are European 
Protected Species. EPS species have the highest level of protection of any 
wildlife in the UK.

 The lack of sightings of otters is not evidence of absence. Otters are continuing 
to expand in numbers along the River Derwent SAC. Otters use woodlands for 
cover, resting places and for breeding sites.

 Well-paid employment premises, a cultural venue, a tourist attraction, a bus 
station, a petrol filling station with a small shop, would all be better than an out 
of town retail warehouse in Cockermouth.

 The scale of the proposed store would be overwhelming
 Hawthorn Estates Ltd (owners and operators of the Lowther Went shopping 

centre) consider that this proposal would have a negative impact on the town 
as a whole including the tenants who rent at Lowther Went.

 Impact on the nearby listed building. 
 Let's see a more pro-active way of developing the land, such as start-up office 

+ light industrial units, to encourage new businesses that enhance the town, 
not contribute to its demise

 Why not build something for young people on the site?
 Visual amenity would be badly affected, especially when travelling towards 

Papcastle. 
 Poor impression for visitors.
 Similar consequences in Penrith resulting from edge of town/out of town retail. 
 What the town requires is competition on car fuel and a park and ride hub for 

BNFL.
 Why don't we tap into the Energy Coast initiative. Let’s bring some high quality, 

sustainable employment to the town, reduce travel costs and congestion and 
bring hundreds of people to the town to give the existing businesses a boost!

 The road into town adjacent to the proposed development is already prone to 
congestion, this will worsen the situation at peak times (Highway safety risk) 

 The proposed entrance to the site is from an awkward and high risk spur from 
the main road (highway safety risk)

 Deliveries will create nuisance, noise and disturbance
 It does not appear that local design guidance has been adhered to and the 

policy cannot be ignored in these circumstances. The design is over bearing 
and out of character in terms of appearance.

87 letters of support have been received. The grounds for support are summarised as 
follows:

 The new development makes good use of unoccupied land.
 The store brings a permanent and wide range of cheaper shopping other than 

supermarkets.

Page 51



 The proposed development reduces transport requirements to neighbouring 
towns.

 It brings employment and much needed amenities to the town.
 Will reduce trips to Workington
 Will bring more affordability to the town.
 Cockermouth is dominated by coffee and food outlets and charity shops, we 

need more shops. 
 Provide healthy competition
 Will attract people to the town.
 Not one inch of this site was flooded in 2009 or 2015.
 Previous/historic uses of this site as a coal yard did not enhance the 

appearance of the town either. 

Two petitions of support have been received with a total of 10 signatures. 

One letter has been received raising neither objection nor support. 

A number of letters have also raised concerns with the manner by which the applicant 
has sought to publicise and encourage comment on the application. 

The application has been called in for determination by Development Panel by Cllr 
Joan Ellis. 

Duties 

Section 66 Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 requires that 
when considering whether to grant planning permission for development which affects 
a listed building or its setting, the local planning authority shall have special regard to 
the desirability of preserving the building or its setting or any features of special 
architectural or historic interest which it possesses. 

Section 72 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 
requires that special attention shall be paid to the desirability of preserving or 
enhancing the character or appearance of a designated Conservation Area.    
Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990. 

The Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2010 state that competent 
authorities are required to make an appropriate assessment of any plan or project 
they intend to permit or carry out, if the plan or project is likely to have a significant 
effect upon a European site. The permission may only be given if the plan or project is 
ascertained to have no adverse effect upon the integrity of the European site. If the 
competent authority wishes to permit a plan or project despite a negative assessment, 
imperative reasons of over-riding public interest must be demonstrated, and there 
should be no alternative to the scheme. 

Regulation 9 (1) of the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2010 
requires all public bodies to have regard to the requirements of the Habitats Directive 
in the exercise of their functions, particularly when determining a planning application 

Page 52



for a development which may have an impact on European Protected Species 
("EPS"), such as bats, great crested newts or otters.

Development Plan Policies

Allerdale Local Plan 1999 

Saved settlement limits 
Saved employment allocation – EM2. 

Allerdale Local Plan Part 1 (2014)

Policy S1 - Presumption in favour of sustainable development
Policy S2 - Sustainable development principles
Policy S3 - Spatial Strategy and Growth
Policy S4 - Design principles
Policy S5 - Development Principles
Policy S6c - Cockermouth  
Policy S12 – Land and Premises
Policy S16 - Town centres and retail
Policy S21 - Developer contributions 
Policy S22 – Transport Principles
Policy S24 - Green infrastructure
Policy S27 - Heritage Assets
Policy S29 - Flood Risk and Surface Water Drainage
Policy S30 - Reuse of Land
Policy S32 - Safeguarding amenity
Policy S33 - Landscape
Policy S35 - Protecting and enhancing biodiversity and geodiversity
Policy S36 - Air, water and soil quality
Policy DM3 - Protection of Employment Sites
Policy DM8 - Protecting Town Centre Vitality and Viability
Policy DM14 - Standards of Good Design
Policy DM16 - Sequential Test for Previously Developed Land
Policy DM17 - Trees, hedgerows and woodland

Other material considerations 

Draft Allerdale Borough Local Plan (Part 2) 
National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) (2012)
Employment Land and Workspace Study 2016
Allerdale Retail Study 2015

Policy weighting 
Notwithstanding the duties outlined above, section 38(6) of the Planning and 

Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires that, if regard is to be had to the 
development plan for the purpose of any determination to be made under the planning 

Page 53



Acts, the determination must be made in accordance with the plan unless material 
considerations indicate otherwise. This means that the Allerdale Borough Local Plan 
(Part 1) 2014 policies have primacy.

A material consideration is the provisions of the NPPF. Paragraph 215 of the NPPF 
advises that the weight afforded to development plan policies can vary according to 
their degree of consistency with this framework (the closer the policies in the plan to 
the policies in the Framework, the greater the weight that may be given). 

In this instance, the Allerdale Local Plan (part 1) policies relevant to this site and 
proposal postdate and are consistent with NPPF and so full weight can be afforded to 
them. The NPPF’s section addressing Heritage Assets is used to inform the 
application of policy S27 of the Local Plan, along with the section 66 and 72 duties. 

However, it is acknowledged that the saved settlement boundaries of the 1999 Plan 
are pending review and delivery of the part 1 Local Plan’s strategic policies is 
predicated on development beyond these limits. As such the weight afforded to these 
limits is tempered.

Employment sites and allocations dating from the 1999 Plan have been saved by 
virtue of Policy S12 of the 2014 Allerdale Local Plan, pending review through the site 
allocations process. Policy S12 is considered to accord with the NPPF, which 
supports sustainable economic development. This approach to employment sites and 
allocations has been supported by the Planning Inspectorate through a recent appeal 
decision at Solway Industrial Estate, Maryport (3187370).  

Paragraph 216 of the NPPF advises that weight can be afforded to emerging plans, 
that weight dependent on the stage of preparation, the extent of unresolved objections 
and consistency with the provisions of the Framework. In this instance Part 2 of the 
Local Plan is at an early stage of preparation and is afforded very little weight in the 
assessment.

Assessment

Principle of the development – spatial location 

Cockermouth is identified as a Key Service Centre in the settlement hierarchy under 
Policy S3 of the Allerdale Local Plan. Subject to certain criteria, Policy S5 indicates 
that new development will be concentrated within the physical limits of such locations, 
providing that the scale of the development proposed is commensurate to the size of 
the settlement and reflects its position within the hierarchy overall. Where available 
and, if appropriate, the Council will also encourage and prioritise the effective reuse of 
previously developed land and buildings or vacant and underused land, as identified 
by Policy S30.

Part of the site (at the eastern end) is a saved allocation from the 1999 Plan for 
employment use.  The saved allocations are pending a review as part of the 
forthcoming allocation of sites process (Part 2). Evidence provided with the 
application indicates that the eastern part of the site has historically been developed 

Page 54



and areas of rough ground remain within this area. The proposal will extend beyond 
the existing boundary by approx. 170 metres and also falls outside of the settlement 
limit of Cockermouth, albeit, this settlement limit is also intended for review as part of 
the forthcoming allocation of sites process (Part 2). This western part of the site 
appears to be undeveloped and the former railway sidings appear to have naturally 
regenerated with trees and scrub planting. 
However, the delivery of the Local Plan Part 1’s strategic policy objectives requires 
land beyond settlement limits to be delivered during this phase of the Plan period. 
Cockermouth specifically is required to maintain its role as a Key Service Centre 
throughout the adopted Part 1 Local Plan period. In advance of part 2 allocations 
being tested and being adopted, it is appropriate for other sites to come forward to 
meet this role. Development of the scale proposed is, in general terms, considered to 
be commensurate to the size and functional role of Cockermouth as a key service 
centre within the settlement hierarchy. Towns within this tier of the hierarchy already 
provide a wide range of services and function as service centres for a wide rural 
hinterland. KSC’s are expected to meet the day to day needs of local residents and a 
range of employment opportunities to meet the needs of local and regional 
businesses. 
There is also development further west at the Laureates; the settlement limit in the 
1999 Plan no longer reflecting the extent of the built up area. The extension of the 
proposal beyond the settlement limit in isolation, is not considered to raise significant 
conflict with the Plan as a whole.   

Redevelopment of the eastern part of the site which has previously been developed 
would accord with Policies S3 and S30 of the Plan. Parts of the site to the western 
end do not appear to have been previously developed. There are not considered to be 
any sequentially preferable previously developed sites within the settlement that are 
available to the developer (i.e. the former fire station site is discussed below). There 
are some vacant buildings within the town centre that could potentially accommodate 
the proposed employment unit if a B1 office use were proposed, but it is unlikely that 
such vacant buildings would be suitable for B2 or B8 uses, given the likely 
incompatibility with other town centre uses.  As such, the requirements of Policy S30 
and DM16 are considered to be satisfied. 

In general terms, the proposed use is considered to be compatible with the 
surrounding area, forming an extension to the cluster of retail development existing at 
the western edge of the town. The loss of an allocated employment site and the 
impact of the proposal on town centre vitality and viability will be discussed in greater 
detail below, but in brief, it is considered that the applicant has provided sufficient 
information to justify the loss of the employment allocation and to demonstrate that 
the proposal will not adversely impact on town centre viability to a significant level.   

The principle of the development accords with policies S3 and S30 of the Allerdale 
Local Plan.

Benefits of the Proposal

The NPPF at Paragraph 19 states that the Government is committed to ensuring that 
the planning system does everything it can to support sustainable economic growth 
and that  significant weight should be placed on the need to support economic growth 

Page 55



through the planning system. This is supported by policy S2 of the Local Plan, full 
weight afforded to this policy given the consistency with the NPPF’s objectives.

In terms of achieving the economic role of the planning system of contributing to 
building a strong, responsive and competitive economy, it is recognised that the 
proposal would have economic benefits. The applicant indicates that the proposal 
would create approx. 65 new employment opportunities in Cockermouth, which are 
likely to benefit local people. The proposal would attract a level of commercial 
investment into the town, which would have spin off benefits for the commercial sector 
and the construction industry.  

In accordance with policy S2 of the Local Plan Part 1 and Paragraph 19 of the NPPF, 
the economic benefits of the proposal and the resulting support to economic growth 
carries ‘significant weight’. The proposals would make a positive and significant 
contribution in terms of further investment within Cockermouth and the creation of 
further employment opportunities. 

Partial Loss of Employment Land

The site was allocated in the 1999 Local Plan under Policy EM2 for B1 (Light 
Industrial) and B2 (Limited General Industrial); this allocation has been carried 
forward through the adoption of the Local Plan (Part 1) (policy S12) pending review. 
Given the location of the site on the edge of the Key Service Centre, with good road 
access to both the A66 and A595, it is considered that the site provides a good option 
for employment use; this was confirmed in the 2012 Employment Land Review 
Update and the ‘Employment Land and Workspace Study for Allerdale’ (2016). 

The Employment Land Review Update (2012) states that there are 100 ha of 
available employment land across the Plan Area. Therefore, it concludes that 
generally there is scope for de-allocation of poorly performing sites and those that no 
longer meet the needs of modern business. However, the Review also states that for 
Cockermouth, there is a demand for office space (B1), as well as for the industrial and 
warehousing sectors (B2 and B8), especially given the future Nationally Significant 
Infrastructure Projects that will affect West Cumbria. As such, Policy S6c of the 
Allerdale Local Plan indicates that, for Cockermouth, there is a need to address a lack 
of available employment sites and increase the range on offer to meet both ongoing 
local needs and those of the nuclear and energy supply sectors. 

Policy S12 seeks to safeguard such allocations until they are reviewed so that the 
Council can ensure sufficient quality employment land is available to accommodate 
current and future needs in order to support sustainable economic development. 
Further, Policy S13 seeks to maximise opportunities identified in the West Cumbria 
Economic Blueprint by maintaining a portfolio of high quality sites.

In accordance with Policy DM3 of the Allerdale Local Plan, applicants wishing to use 
allocated employment sites for other uses must demonstrate that: (a) the site could 
not be reasonably upgraded to meet the current or long terms needs of modern 
business; (b) the loss of the site would not significantly impact upon the long term 
supply of the Plan Area employment land in terms of quality and quantity; and (c) it 
would not undermine the spatial strategy of the Local Plan. If the applicant can meet 

Page 56



the criteria, the policy sets out a sequential preference for non-employment uses on 
such application sites. 

The proposal constitutes a mixed use scheme for part retail, part employment use. 
The retail element of the scheme falls mainly within the land allocated for 
employment, whilst the proposed employment unit sits beyond the existing settlement 
boundary. As such, the application differs in nature from the previously refused 
scheme in that provision will be made for some traditional employment generating 
uses. As such, there is a partial loss of allocated employment land, acknowledging 
that the proposed retail use, will generate employment also.   

To address this partial loss of employment land, the applicant has undertaken 
additional marketing of the site for employment uses subsequent to that previous 
decision and to address the criteria of Policy DM3.

The applicant’s submission includes a detailed report from Carigiet Cowen providing 
an overview of conditions within the local area in terms of existing employment space 
and its take up as well as the interest/development of new build space. It provides 
detail on the marketing of the site, particularly post 2016 and the interest received. 
The information is summarised as follows:

 This site has been identified within the Plan since 1994, with no 
development for traditional employment uses being forthcoming. The 
applicant also notes that the development of part of the EM2 allocation for 
retail use has already been accepted (the Lakes Home centre). 

 No active requirements were identified through direct approaches to the 
landowner. Marketing originally took place over a two year period between 
December 2011 and November 2013 by Cert Property with no inquiries 
made by potential B1, B2, B8 end users or those acting for them. 

 Further marketing of the site for more traditional employment uses has 
been carried out on behalf of the applicant by Carigiet Cowen (CC) since 
August 2016, involving putting a board up on site, placing information of the 
site on their website along with those of Zoopla and EG Propertylink and a 
mailshot was also sent out to local and regional property agents who CC 
felt may have clients seeking opportunities similar to the site in 
Cockermouth. 

 Marketing of the site for 14 months has resulted in no realistic interest in 
bringing the site forward for employment uses. Three expressions of 
interest were received from parties requiring traditional employment space, 
none of which progressed passed the initial enquiry stage. Other interest 
expressed has been speculative for other uses. 

 CC conclude that, given the nature of the local market, there is no real 
likelihood that any investor would be prepared to progress a speculative 
development across the site. 

Page 57



 The analysis by CC concludes that based on local rental levels and 
investment returns, progression of development across the site for more 
traditional employment uses would not offer a viable proposition to a private 
landowner. 

 Given the lack of interest over the years it is evident the Low Road site is 
not perceived to be a site capable of providing for the current or long term 
needs of modern business. 

 The site sits on its own in relation to proximity to other traditional 
employment uses in the town. The vast majority of such uses are located 
elsewhere in Cockermouth including the Derwent Mills Industrial Estate, 
Europa Way/Lakeland Business Park and south of the by-pass on the 
Mitchells Auction Mart site.  These locations benefit by providing 
employment clusters where businesses can locate next to each other and 
benefit from a general location with a number of other occupiers. These 
clusters of employment uses are more attractive than a single standalone 
site. 

 There is an excess of employment sites in the ‘Plan Area’. Also of 
relevance, is the current Site Allocations process which provides the 
opportunity to review all formerly designated employment sites and allocate 
new sites for future development. 

The Council had the applicant’s submission externally appraised by chartered 
surveyors and, as a result of this, further information/clarification has been sought on 
a number of aspects of the marketing exercise and the interest received, and the 
degree to which these interested parties progressed. Clarification was also sought on 
the extent to which public funding had been explored.  Having received further 
information in response to this request, the response from the Council’s appointed 
external chartered surveyor is summarised as follows:

1.   In relation to the duration of the marketing exercise the property has been 
marketed since September 2016 by Carigiet Cowen (CC), who have used 
appropriate marketing tools and media to market the site.  Based on this the 
requirement for 6 months marketing has been fulfilled.

2.  The marketing approach has been to invite expressions of interest for new 
employment accommodation on the site for sale or to let.  In terms of the type 
of marketing campaign there are pros and cons to a targeted verses an ‘all 
enquires’ approach such as that adopted here.  In the circumstances the 
approach that has been taken by CC does appear to be reasonable given the 
circumstances of the site and the requirement to try to address as many 
options for future development as possible.  

3.   The marketing campaign that was undertaken, though not directly targeted at 
selling the land itself to owner occupiers or other developers, does appear to 
have generated interest from parties wishing to purchase the land directly 
although the enquires received were for residential development and from the 
adjacent Lakes Home operator.  CC state that they did not approach 
employment land developers directly however they expected that, if there had 

Page 58



been demand from these parties, then it would have become apparent in any 
event during the marketing campaign.  This is probably a fair point.

4.  CC have confirmed that one of the two interested parties instead leased 
existing space (due perhaps financially or due to timescales).  Discussions with 
the remaining enquiry took place in the context of the figures that had 
historically been quoted for new build accommodation at Derwent Mills.  The 
party involved could not contemplate proceeding on this basis.  CC in 
marketing new build accommodation on this site have quoted terms in line with 
those for other new build developments in Cockermouth which is a reasonable 
approach in the context of this site.

5.  With reference to availability of public funding, in the absence of securing a 
potential occupier able to fund a purchase or lease based on prevailing market 
terms or sufficient interest in the site, CC note that it would be difficult to justify 
an application for public sector funding support or secure any ‘traction’ with the 
relevant organisations.  In our experience this is a fair conclusion to reach and, 
given other strategic priorities in Cumbria, we anticipate that public sector 
funding for this site might be difficult to secure without more certainty and 
interest.

6.  CC note that no genuine approaches had been forthcoming during the 
marketing campaign but their client would have been willing to consider a sale 
had an appropriate offer come forward.

7.  Having reviewed the various reports and information that have been provided 
by CC we consider that this is sufficient to meet the Council’s requirements to 
demonstrate that the site is unlikely to come forward in the foreseeable future 
for sole employment use, namely that the site has been marketed for a period 
of at least 6 months and at an appropriate price.

Having regard to criteria (a) Policy DM3, it is considered that, with the additional 
marketing since 2016 and considering the independent advice obtained by the 
Council, the applicant has put forward a reasonable justification as to why this 
allocation for employment is no longer sustainable. The site has been available for re-
development for employment for a significant number of years, without coming 
forward. Whilst there are a number of constraints to the site (such as trees, flood risk), 
these would not be insurmountable. Rather, the applicant has noted difficulties within 
Cockermouth in letting existing B1 and B2 premises, low demand and insufficient 
levels of rental returns to attract private investment sufficient to stimulate new build 
development. The site has been marketed appropriately in excess of 6 months and it 
is considered unlikely that there is anything that could be realistically done to make 
this site more attractive for employment development. As such, it is considered that 
criteria DM3 (a) is met. 

Given the extended length of time this site has been available without uptake and the 
extensive employment land available within the wider Plan area, it is not considered 
that the loss of the site would impact in the long term on the supply of sites in the Plan 
area and therefore criteria DM3(b) is met. 

The proposal is commensurate to the scale of Cockermouth and evidence suggests 
there is some availability of existing employment premises elsewhere within 
Cockermouth. Given the conclusions reached in respect to criteria a) and b), it is not 

Page 59



considered that the spatial strategy would be undermined. Therefore criteria DM3 (c) 
is met. 

Policy DM3 sets out that where land is released from employment use, preference will 
be given to certain types of development in sequence. It is considered that the 
proposal, will provide a mix of employment and non-employment uses, acknowledging 
that the retail use will generate employment, without being a traditional employment 
use. As such, this is the preferred alternative according to the DM3 criteria.

To conclude, it is considered that the criteria of Policy DM3 is met and the loss of the 
employment allocation to retail use is acceptable, alongside the larger scheme which 
incorporates an employment use. 

Town Centre Vitality and Viability

Policy S16 requires retail development to be located within existing centres and to be 
of a scale commensurate to the settlements role and function, so as to not undermine 
the settlement hierarchy. Further, Policy S16 requires that proposals for main town 
centre uses outside of defined centres will be refused where the applicant has not 
demonstrated compliance with the sequential approach to site selection, or where 
there is clear evidence that the proposal would have a significant adverse impact on 
the vitality and viability of a nearby centre.   Policy DM8 stipulates a threshold of 
300sqm for retail development requiring impact assessment. 

The application site does not lie within or adjacent to Cockermouth town centre and 
therefore falls to be assessed as an out of centre site for the purposes of section 2 of 
the NPPF and policies S16 and DM8 of the Allerdale Local Plan. 

Sequential Test for retail

The application is supported by a sequential assessment of other sites within 
Cockermouth. The overall site area required to deliver the proposal is stated as 
1.39ha. The NPPF advises that applicants and local planning authorities should 
demonstrate flexibility on issues such as format and scale. To ensure further flexibility 
in the approach to the sequential assessment, a search has been undertaken based 
on a reduced site area by 10%. 

Ten sites have been considered, eight of which are public car parks within and around 
the town centre. All of these sites are considered to be too small to accommodate the 
proposal, they are currently in use and their availability for development is 
questionable. Officers concur that these sites would not be suitable for the proposal. 

A further site to the east of Station Road (Lidl and WCF site) is also considered. The 
applicant confirms that this would be an edge of centre site and therefore sequentially 
preferable. However, on the basis of the application to accommodate an extended 
WCF and a new Lidl (which is now being constructed), the applicant considers that 
this site is not available for the proposal. Nor would this site be of a sufficient size to 
accommodate the proposal (at 0.8ha). Officers concur with this conclusion.  
 

Page 60



Land adjoining the Fire and Rescue Centre is a further site considered. This site is 
stated as measuring 1.4 ha and is of an adequate size to accommodate the proposal. 
The applicant considers that:

 This site is set back from Station Road to such a degree and to the rear of 
existing development, including the proposed Lidl, such that any new 
development would be screened from passing traffic, resulting in a lack of 
retailer presence and frontage, which would adversely affect any likelihood of 
retail development coming forward on the site. 

 The location on the edge of the Conservation Area is also considered a further 
constraint to development coming forward.

 The site lends itself to office or residential use. Residential use is being 
promoted in the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 2) Site allocations DPD, Additional 
Sites submitted, Jan 2015).  

 Availability is uncertain on the basis that there is a For Sale board, although it 
is understood that the site is not being actively marketed. 

For these reasons, the applicant considers that the site is not suitable and does not 
appear to be available. 

Officers consider that, whilst the site is set back from Station Road, views into the site 
from the main road remain possible. Further, the town of Cockermouth is relatively 
small in scale and the majority of town centre users will be familiar with the town and 
its shops, resulting in a lesser reliance on passing trade. Further this proposed site 
would be clustered with other retail development that would provide a draw.  The 
applicant has provided limited information as to why the location within the 
Conservation Area would act as a constraint. Other larger scale retail development 
has come forward within the Conservation Area (Sainsbury’s) and is currently being 
supported (Lidl/WCF). Residential use for the site has been put forward to the Council 
for consideration as part of the Issues and Options for Site Allocations but it is not 
being formally put forward as such by the Council at this stage. 

However, it is understood that since the site was marketed for sale by the County 
Council, the site has been acquired and as part of the previous application, the 
applicant confirmed that the site has been acquired by a local businessman with the 
intention of redeveloping for some form of residential use. As such, it is considered 
that this site is not available, nor is it sequentially preferable, given its location outside 
of the town centre.   

Whilst it is noted that there are a number of vacant banks, pubs and shops within the 
town centre, these are not considered to be of a size or scale to accommodate the 
development proposed (or the retail unit taken in isolation) even when taking flexibility 
into account; the contrast in the proposed floor area and these available units is 
significant.

As such, it is considered that the sequential assessment for the retail aspect of the 
application is considered to be acceptable in accordance with policy S16. 

Retail Impact Assessment

Page 61



It is considered that Cockermouth has a vibrant and attractive town centre which 
functions well as both a service centre and a tourist destination (Policy S6c). The 
2015 Retail Study Update identifies Cockermouth as an attractive market town which 
offers a high quality shopping environment with a good range of independent shops, 
with limited representation from multiple retailers. It continues to have a lower 
vacancy rate than the national average. 

The Health Check Appraisal carried out as part of the 2015 Retail Study Update found 
that Cockermouth is a healthy town centre with a high level of vitality and viability. 
There is some capacity until the end of the plan period in 2029 for additional 
convenience (870m²) and comparison (1,690 m²) floorspace within the town. 

The Council has recently considered and approved an application for retail 
development on the site of Travis Perkins, WCF and the former Petrol Filling Station 
on Station Road. This proposal would provide for:

- a Lidl foodstore with a gross internal area of 1,777 sq.m and a net sales area of 
1,163 sqm, split on the basis of 80% / 20%, comprising 930 sq. m convenience 
and 233 sq. m comparison floorspace; plus 

- a WCF store with a gross internal area of 677 sq. m and a net sales area of 
418 sq. m.  

The WCF element of the scheme is for a replacement of the existing building that is 
already present on the site. The increase in net sales floorspace would be 124 m².  It 
is understood that the replacement WCF is under construction, but works to provide 
for the Lidl have not yet commenced. 

Assuming this Lidl is subsequently built, then the additional capacity identified within 
the Retail Study for convenience goods shopping in Cockermouth for this Local Plan 
period will have been met (and exceeded). The enlarged WCF would add 124sqm to 
the identified capacity of 1690sqm of comparison goods space, albeit this is a 
relatively specialist product. 

This proposal would add 2,043sqm floorspace (gross). Of this, the submission 
clarifies that the floorspace is intended to be split 85% comparison goods and 15% 
convenience goods, although some flexibility is sought on this. This split would equate 
to 1736sqm comparison goods and 307sqm convenience goods (not referencing the 
garden centre). As such, the proposal would provide for and exceed marginally the 
capacity for further comparison goods within the town identified in the 2015 study and 
would add a further portion of convenience goods, over and above that provided by 
the approved Lidl development. 

Concurrent planning applications for the Lakes Home Centre also seek  to extend the 
types of comparison goods that can be sold within the existing store (applications 
2/2018/0050 and 0051), as well as proposing the ability to sell up to 30% convenience 
goods. It is understood that the combined floor space of this neighbouring unit is 
2700sqm, and the proposal would potentially result in a reduced comparison floor 
space to 1890sqm and 810sqm of existing comparison floor space converted to 
convenience goods. 

Page 62



In order to protect the vitality and viability of  town centres it is important that any retail 
applications are in line with Policies S16 and DM8 and Paragraph 26 of the NPPF 
which requires consideration of:

 the impact of the proposal on existing, committed and planned public and 
private investment in a centre or centres in the catchment area of the proposal

 the impact of the proposal on town centre vitality and viability, including local 
consumer choice and trade in the town centre and wider area, up to 5 years 
from the time the application is made. 

As the proposal is for a retail use outside the defined centre and it is over 300m², the 
applicant has submitted a Retail Impact Assessment in line with Policy DM8.  

With regards to the retail impacts of the proposal, the Council has had the submitted 
Retail Impact Assessment externally appraised by appointed consultants, along with 
additional information provided at the request of those consultants. This additional 
information primarily related to higher sensitivity testing (assessment of floor space 
densities at a higher rate than those anticipated from the indicated operator B & M 
Homestore) and the likely cumulative impact of the proposal with the approved 
development of WCF/Lidl and the proposed changes to the operation of the adjacent 
Lakes Home Centre (under planning applications 2/2018/0050 and 0051).  
 
In relation to the impact of the proposal, the Council’s consultant is now satisfied with 
the level of information provided. The consultant’s report is summarised as follows:

 The trading density has been negotiated with the applicant, in order that it 
assesses a more reasonable turnover for the proposals of £4,000 per sqm for 
comparison goods and £7,500 per sqm for convenience goods. This identifies 
a convenience turnover of £1.96m and a comparison turnover of £7.02m in 
2023 from the proposal.

 Table 7b and 11b of the Retail Impact Assessment Update (RIAU) identifies 
the % and the £m trade drawn to the proposal and this is identified below 
(2020): 

 The broad spread of impact is considered reasonable. In comparison to the 
trade drawn on the adjoining site, the convenience trade from Cockermouth 

Page 63



town centre is broadly similar (42% vs 40%), with the trade drawn from out of 
Cockermouth above is lower at 31% vs 52% on the adjoining site. The balance 
therefore falls with a larger proportion above being drawn from other locations 
(27%), whereas for the adjoining site the draw from the equivalent ‘elsewhere 
is’ 8%. This probably turns on B&M considering they will be able to claw back 
additional convenience expenditure to the area, alongside any comparison 
goods.

 In relation to comparison goods the table below identifies that a significant 
amount of trade to support the B&M store is to be drawn from locations outside 
of Cockermouth. This is considered to be of the order of 80% of its trade, 
mainly from locations in Workington - £2.91m from the town centre and £1.89m 
from the other retail parks in Workington. 

 The Allerdale Retail Study identifies a significant outflow of comparison goods 
from the Cockermouth area (para 6.174-6.1760). In total this is approaching 
67% of trade, which the applicant claims offers scope for clawback, especially 
as there is an existing B&M store at Derwent Howe and other stores at 
Whitehaven, Carlisle and Penrith. 

Impact on Cockermouth 

 As identified above the trade drawn from Cockermouth appears to be 
reasonable and proportionate to the shopping patterns in this area and the 
intended end operator and their existing estate. 

 The RIAU (Retail Impact Assessment Updated) trade draw is identified below 
in both a standalone and a cumulative perspective with the Lidl scheme. In this 
respect is it presented on the basis that the Lidl will open first (expected later 
this year) and then the application proposal opening. Thereafter the applicant 
then considers the variation of condition at The Lakes Home Centre, 
notwithstanding that the variation of condition could be implemented 
immediately if planning permission was approved, given that no external 
alterations are required. 

 As such the approach identified by the application in terms of the delivery of 
the Lidl and then the application is identified below.

 Overall it can be seen that the trade drawn from the application proposal would 
be £1.81m, which in turn would suggest an impact of around 3.2% on the 
turnover of the centre in 2023 (before the Lidl). In cumulative terms along with 
the approved Lidl, the impact would be around 5.2%. 

 However the above scenario assumes that the Lidl is effectively drawing trade 
from the centre, whereas the Lidl is expected to strengthen the centre with an 
edge of centre unit within the Local Plan’s defined town centre boundaries and 

Page 64



conveniently located in terms of distance and pedestrian accessibility for linked 
trips. Therefore when the Lidl is considered to operate as part of the centre 
when it opens, then the starting turnover of the town centre would be as below:

 If the application proposal is brought forward after the Lidl store and the Lidl 
successfully integrates itself into the centre of Cockermouth, then the impact 
on Cockermouth would be around 3%.This could not be considered significant.

Impact on consumer choice for Cockermouth

 It is accepted that the proposal would add to consumer choice, through the 
provision of a likely new operator in the town and the premise of the applicant’s 
impact assessment is the clawback of trade flowing elsewhere. However the 
scope to attract more people into Cockermouth town centre is debatable given 
the site’s location. 

Impact on vitality and viability for Cockermouth

 For the avoidance of doubt the Allerdale Retail Study (ARS) stated that 
Cockermouth was “a healthy town centre with a high level of vitality and 
viability and it should be able to build on its strengths as an attractive market 
town with a good range of independents, anchored by Sainsbury’s and with 
visitor trade”. 

 It is useful that the updated Viability & Vitality (V & V) study provides a 
comparative exercise on the number of units and the composition of the centre. 
Although there are some discrepancies with regards the total number of units 
within the ‘centre’ which are not easily reconciled (para 5.4). Of note, there 
have been no closures in terms of the convenience goods element of the 
market, indicating that the independent operators are preforming to an 
adequate level. 

 In terms of comparison goods, these would appear to be provided for at a level 
slightly in excess of the national average, and although this is down on the 
levels recorded in the ARS, it does not pose any significant concern overall. 
This is especially so given the level of tourist trade which is attracted to 
locations such as Cockermouth, which provide additional expenditure to 
support these operators and also operators such as food and beverage, who 
are noted to be plentiful in the centre (+10% when compared to the national 
average). 

 Overall the findings of the vitality and viability assessment confirm that this is a 
centre of vitality and viability. This also corresponds with the separate findings 
of the applicant at the adjoining Lakes Home Centre application.

Page 65



Cumulative Impact for Cockermouth

 On the basis that Lidl is to be treated as a scheme which would draw trade 
back into the centre and once open be considered as an integral part of the 
centre, then the impact on the centre of all three schemes is identified below:

Store/centre Turnover 
2023 (£m)

Lakes 
Centre 
Draw 
(£m)

Turnover 
after 
Lakes 
(£m)

Turnover 
after Lidl 
(£m)

Low 
Road 
Trade 
Draw 
(£M)

Residual 
Turnover 
(£m)

Impact 
with Lidl 
as a TC 
unit (%)

Cockermouth 56.47 2.80 53.67 57.72 1.81 55.91 1%

 As a worst case scenario, if Lidl did not integrate well and draw back trade into 
the town centre, then the total % impact on the town centre ( convenience and 
comparison) from Lidl, this proposal and the changes to the Lakes Home 
Centre would total 9.7%. 

 Given that Cockermouth has been identified in the ARS and more recently in 
the two submissions as being a healthy centre and the foodstores (Sainsbury’s 
and Aldi) are identified to be ‘overtrading’ to the benefit of the centre, then this 
level of trade diversion would not be considered significantly adverse on the 
centre as a whole. This is even more so given the wider strength of the food 
and beverage sectors and the support provided by a level of tourist trade.

Impact on vitality and viability of other centres

As the submitted reports also indicate some draw from Workington Town Centre, an 
equivalent update position for Workington town centre has been provided by the 
Council’s consultant and the results are shown in the table below. 

Note: TK Maxx and Siddick Road impact taken from attached retail response, updated from 2022 to 2023. 
2023 turnover taken from ID Planning Appendix 3.

The impact assessment for the proposed TK Maxx store in Workington indicated that 
the convenience turnover of Workington is significantly higher than that presented by 
current submission. If the higher turnover is used, the overall impact would be lower 
than stated in the table above at around 3.4%. 

In terms of the health of Workington, there has been a slight improvement in the 
health of the centre when compared to older assessments. The Council’s consultant 

Page 66



concludes that this is a positive indication that the centre will be able to withstand the 
impacts of relatively low levels of trade diversion from current live applications, 
beyond that which has already been accepted and approved. 

Flexibility

The applicant requests flexibility in the use of the floor area of the proposed retail unit, 
comprising up to 49% convenience goods. This scenario has been presented as part 
of the of the sensitivity testing requested. This has slightly different impact 
conclusions than the 15/85% presented in the previous two scenarios. It is also noted 
that the 85%/15% floorspace split is more akin to the floorspace within a B&M store, 
albeit should permission be granted, there would be no restriction on the occupier.
Again, on the basis that Lidl will be a scheme which would draw trade back into the 
centre and once open, be considered as an integral part of the centre and using the 
49/51% split identified above, then the impact on the centre is below:

Store/centre Turnover 2023 
(£m)

Lakes Centre 
Draw (£m)

Turnover after 
Lakes (£m)

Turnover after 
Lidl (£m)

Low Road 
Trade Draw 
(£M)

Residual 
Turnover 
(£m)

Impact 
with Lidl 
as a TC 
unit (%)

Cockermouth 56.47 2.80 53.67 57.72 3.37 54.35 5.9%

The reason for this higher level of impact is due to the convenience trade draw being 
greater from Cockermouth town centre. However given that the foodstores 
(Sainsbury’s and Aldi) are identified to be ‘overtrading’ to the benefit of the centre, 
then this level of trade diversion would be unlikely to be considered significantly 
adverse on the centre as a whole. 

Having regard to the above advice:

(1) It is not anticipated that the proposal will impact negatively  on existing, 
committed and planned public investment, Officers are not aware of any plans 
for public investment in Cockermouth town centre. Given the commitment by the 
operator (Lidl) to the site on Station Road, and the lack of any objection in this 
regard, Officers do not consider that the proposal would deter this proposed 
private investment in the town.

(2) With regards to impact on local consumer choice, it is considered that the 
proposal would have a positive impact in that it would provide added choice for 
the town. 

(3) Based on the external advice provided by the Council’s consultant’s it is 
considered that the proposal will not have a significantly adverse impact on the 
vitality and viability of Cockermouth Town Centre or other centres and therefore, 
the proposal is considered to accord with the requirements of Policies S16 and 
DM8 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1) 2014 and paragraph 26 of the NPPF.

Page 67



Heritage Assets

Over and above the requirements of policy S27 of the ALP (Part 1) and advice 
contained within the NPPF, the Council has specific duties with regards to heritage 
designations and their setting arising from the Planning (Listed buildings and 
Conservation Areas) Act 1990 (as amended). Section 66 of the Act states that, ‘In 
considering whether to grant planning permission or permission in principle for 
development which affects a listed building or its setting, the local planning authority 
or, as the case may be, the Secretary of State shall have special regard to the 
desirability of preserving the building or its setting or any features of special 
architectural or historic interest which it possesses’. Section 72 states that “special 
attention shall be paid to the desirability of preserving or enhancing the character or 
appearance of Conservation Areas.” Policy S27 of the Allerdale Local Plan seeks to 
protect the all heritage assets in a manner that is appropriate to their intrinsic historic 
value and significance, reflecting the advice of the NPPF. 

The Fitz, a grade II listed building, and its associated parkland lies opposite the site to 
the south. The listed dwelling sits approx.. 300m from Low Road, albeit the parkland 
and driveway extend up to Low Road. The foreground of the parkland is relatively 
open, with the boundary formed by fencing, hedge and intermittent trees, allowing 
views across the foreground to the building in the distance. To the rear, the building is 
largely enclosed by Fitz wood. The listing schedule suggests that there has been a 
building on site from 1665, albeit the current building is considered to date from the 
19th century. The brief listing schedule concentrates on the architectural features of 
the building itself. The setting of the Fitz at the present time is considered to 
principally relate to its immediate parkland, albeit the wider setting contributes also in 
terms of appreciating and understanding the context of this country house. In relation 
to the proposal, the parkland extends up to Low Road, on the opposite side from the 
application site. 

Historically, the Fitz would have once been a country house in a more rural setting. Its 
significance is considered to principally arise from the architectural merits of the 
building itself and its associated historic value arising from its development by the 
Senhouse family. The setting of the building is considered to be important to the 
buildings significance, in terms of appreciating the prominence of the house and its 
status and the associated status of the family within the locality.  As a Grade II listed 
building, The Fitz is not a heritage asset of the highest significance (i.e. Grade I or 
Grade II*).  but as an irreplaceable asset and nationally designated asset, it is 
considered to be of high significance, albeit it is accepted that the rural setting of the 
country house has already been eroded by modern development including Low Road 
itself, housing to the west at the Laureates, and the extension of the town to the west, 
though the development of The Parklands and retail development at the Lakes Home 
Centre, Lloyds and Aldi. 
 
Whilst the proposal will not impact directly on the defined parkland of The Fitz, it will 
extend the built form of the town further west and as a result will have a more 

Page 68



urbanising impact on the wider landscape setting of the house. In closer views, the 
proposed modern building will be visible, along with the parkland and the Fitz and this 
will have a greater urbanising effect than presently exists. Whilst the proposed 
landscaping scheme will mitigate these impacts to a degree, particularly as it matures, 
in the winter months, this impact is likely to be less well screened. As such, it is 
considered that the proposal will result in some harm to the setting of this listed 
building, but given the existing extent to which modern development has already 
influenced the setting, this harm is considered to be less than substantial. 

The site is not located within a Conservation Area. However, Cockermouth 
Conservation Area lies approx. 68m to the north east at the closest point, which is 
from the rear of the site, across the river Derwent to the cricket ground which falls 
within the Conservation Area. Along Low Road, the proposal is approximately 330 
metres from the Cockermouth Conservation Area. Papcastle Conservation Area lies 
approx. 180m to the north. The proposal has the potential to impact on the setting of 
these Conservation Areas and particularly on views from these Conservation Areas. 

As a local designation, the Conservation areas carry a lesser degree of significance 
than the listed building discussed above, but remain a valuable, irreplaceable 
resource. 

In considering the relationship of the application site and Cockermouth Conservation 
Area, there is a significant level of intervening and modern development existing to 
the western edge of the town. The proposal is not considered to impact on the setting 
of the Conservation area when viewed from the main road leading into the town. 
Some views of the site will be afforded from the cricket pitch to the north east, and this 
will be in the context of existing modern development.  This modern development is 
likely to impact negatively on views from this part of the Cockermouth Conservation 
Area and the proposal would exacerbate this further. This harm is considered to be 
less than substantial. 

With regards to the Papcastle Conservation Area, the river Derwent corridor makes a 
positive contribution to the setting of this designation and views afforded from the 
Papcastle Conservation Area to the south. Excepting the western edge of the town, 
views are predominantly rural. At present, the Lakes Home Centre creates a 
significant incursion into these views, albeit somewhat screened in the summer 
months by planting.

The proposal will extend the built form significantly into these views and whilst the 
impacts would be mitigated to some extent through mitigation planting and in the 
choice of appropriate materials, not all impacts can be mitigated. As such, the 
proposal will result in some harm to the Papcastle Conservation Area. Having regard 
to significance of the asset and the extent to which built development currently 
encroaches, this harm is considered to be less than substantial. 
 
The Council’s Conservation Officer has expressed similar concerns as to the impacts 
on heritage assets.  

The County archaeologist has indicated that the site lies in an area of high 

Page 69



archaeological potential. It is located on the edge of an extensive Roman settlement 
and buried remains of Roman structures related to military, industrial, civil and 
religious functions have been revealed and archaeologically investigated in the fields 
immediately north and south of the site. It is likely that similar archaeological assets 
survive on the site and, despite having perhaps been partially impacted upon by a 
former railway and a timber yard, the construction of the proposed development will 
disturb these assets.  Such remains would be considered as non-designated heritage 
assets, albeit it is acknowledged that such archaeological interest will be linked to the 
wider heritage assets associated with Roman activity, including the Hadrians Wall 
WHS to the west. The County Archaeologist is satisfied that the level of significance 
of these heritage assets only warrant archaeological investigation and recording. 

In accordance with paragraph 134 of the NPPF, and having particular regard to the 
special weight to be afforded to the desirability of preserving the setting of the listed 
building as required by s66 of the Act, and the setting of the Conservation Areas as 
required by s72, the harm to the setting must be considered against the public 
benefits of the proposal. 

The impact of the proposal on the heritage assets considered above is determined as 
less than substantial arising from a number of factors. It must also be borne in mind 
that the site is partially allocated for development – any such development would be 
likely to have some adverse effects on heritage assets. The main benefits of the 
proposal have been discussed earlier in the report and predominantly relate to the 
economic benefits of the development, particularly job creation and further investment 
in the town, to which the NPPF affords significant weight. As such, it is considered 
that the less than substantial harm to the significance of heritage assets is outweighed 
in this instance by the public benefits of the proposal. 

Visual Impact

Policies S4, and DM14 seek to ensure (amongst other matters) that new development 
is of a high quality design, of appropriate scale and appearance and responds 
positively to the character, history and distinctiveness of the locality. Policy S5 seeks 
to ensure that (amongst other matters) new development is of a scale and design 
which will not detract from the character of the settlement; that the site of the 
proposed development is not considered to have significant amenity value; and the 
site is not considered to make a significant contribution to the character of the 
settlement in its undeveloped state.

The existing site, when approaching Cockermouth from the west, has the appearance 
of being relatively undeveloped, with mature trees and planting along the old railway 
embankment, stretching for a significant length at approx. 300m. When combined with 
other land either site of Low Road, this approach into the town is relatively green and 
leafy in nature, with boundaries formed often by either stone walls or open fencing, 
with mature trees or planting behind and above. As part of this wider green corridor 
into the town, the existing visual amenities of the site make a positive contribution to 
the character of the locality. The exception to this green corridor when travelling from 

Page 70



the west, is the new housing development at The Laureates which introduces a 
significant urban element into this stretch of Low Road. 

This green approach along the river corridor on the northern side of Low Road 
continues towards Gote Road, albeit, the Lakes Home Centre introduces a planned 
landscape element along this stretch of road, that is now mature.  

When leaving the town and travelling west, the hardstandings and access point at the 
western end of the site are visible given the less dense nature of the trees at this 
section of Low Road. As a result, this section of the site does not make such a 
positive contribution to the character of the wider area. 

With regards to the criteria of Policy S5, it is considered that the site does have 
significant amenity value in a visual sense as part of this wider corridor and approach 
to the town and it does make a significant contribution to the character of the 
settlement at this gateway to the town.   

Full permission i.e details of layout, access, landscaping, scale and appearance are 
sought for the proposed retail unit. The appearance of the proposed B1/B2 and B8 
unit are reserved for future approval, with all other matters sought for approval.

As outlined above, the proposed retail unit would be 34m in width x 62.5m in length 
and 9.5m in total height (to ridge), with the additional garden centre extending out 
from the south east corner of the proposed building. The proposed retail unit would be 
set back from Low Road by approx. 9.67m at its closest point extending to 23.87m, 
with the garden centre compound set back 8.1m extending to 13m. To the front of the 
retail unit and garden centre is proposed a native hedge with additional tree planting 
and landscaping between the hedge and Low road and with the service road. Around 
the garden centre, the plans indicate that the proposed hedge would be allowed to 
grow up to 4m in height. The landscape plan indicates 22 new trees would be planted 
to the south and east of the proposed retail unit and garden centre. The southern and 
western elevations of the proposed unit comprise of a combination of part glazing and 
part random stone with feature ashlar stone strings at the lower level, with larch 
timber cladding and metal composite cladding at the upper levels. Some canopies 
have been added to these elevations also. 

Between the retail and employment unit, a 2m wide hedge is proposed which would 
be maintained at a height of 1.8m and would be interspersed with 12 new trees, 
intersected by the proposed access. 

The proposed employment unit would be approx. 12m in depth and 42m in length. 
Details of appearance are reserved for later approval. To the front of unit 2, a hedge is  
proposed which would be unrestricted in height, with two retained ash trees to the 
western edge and one proposed additional tree adjacent. To the west of the 
employment unit, part of a group of existing trees would be retained (mainly aspen), 
with 3 additional trees planted. 

A new native hedge is proposed to the rear of the site for its full length, which is 
proposed  would be unrestricted in height. 

Page 71



Existing levels within the vicinity of the proposed retail units are approx.. 41.5m AOD. 
Proposed levels, (to address flood risk) would need to be a minimum of  42.10m AOD. 

Having regard to the relevant criteria of policies S4, S5 and DM14 relating to scale 
and design, the size and external appearance of the proposed retail unit are 
considered to be acceptable - following amendments that have been made during the 
course of the application. Whilst the building will be large in scale, this is not dissimilar 
to existing retail units to the immediate east.  It is considered that an appropriate set 
back distance is achieved that will allow for a good level of landscaping and tree 
planting.  The proposed footprint of the unit will be similar to the adjacent Lakes Home 
Centre and the combination of stone, timber cladding and composite cladding 
materials should ensure that the massing of the elevations are broken up to an 
acceptable level, helped by the use of some glazing and canopies to further break up 
the massing and add detail. 

The proposal would result in the removal of the majority of trees across the site, with 
the exception of a small group at the western edge. Given the number and maturity of 
these trees and the physical extent of the site, this in itself would create a marked 
change in the appearance of the site and the character of the area. The introduction 
of the proposed retail and employment units and parking would largely urbanise the 
site  )albeit with landscaping) and as a result would extend the urban extent of the 
town to the west by some 300m. 

Following the refusal of the previous application on the loss of trees and the resulting 
impact on visual amenity, the applicant has increased the proposed replacement tree 
planting from 26 standard and heavy standard trees to 43 heavy and extra heavy 
standard trees, with extended lengths of hedgerow to the front and rear of the site. 
The current scheme would be marginally shorter in length along Low Road (by 8m) 
and a greater set back distance is now achieved from the previously refused scheme 
(Previously 5.5m at its closest point from Low Road, increasing to approx. 12m.). 

Undoubtedly, the proposal would result in a significant change in the appearance of 
the site and the result would be a linear extension to the urbanised form of the town 
along Low Road. Given the positive contribution that the existing mature planting on 
site makes to the character of the area, then it is considered that the urbanising 
impact of the proposal would be a negative one overall. However, the current 
proposal offers a more robust planting scheme than that previously considered by 
Members, which would soften the urbanising impact of the proposal, particularly as 
the mitigation planting matures over time. 

The proposal would continue the urban form in a similar manner to that existing on the 
adjacent site at The Lakes Homes Centre and it must be acknowledged that the 
eastern section of this site is earmarked for development as part of a saved allocation 
of the Allerdale Local Plan for employment. Therefore the decision has previously 
been taken that at least part of this site is not worthy of retention in its undeveloped 
state. Rather, it is earmarked for development as part of a larger employment 
allocation which has been largely developed for retail purposes.  Also, following the 
approval of The Laureates housing development on land to the west of The Fitz, the 

Page 72



built form of the town has extended further west along Low Road. 

It is primarily the parking area and the proposed employment unit which will extend 
beyond the defined settlement limit and the employment allocation. It is considered 
that the new hedge planting proposed along the frontage would screen this to an 
acceptable degree. Full details of the appearance of the employment building would 
be assessed at the reserved matters stage, should approval be given. 

Overall, it is considered that the proposal would result in a significant change in the 
appearance of the site and would extend the built form of the town, raising some 
conflict with policy S5, which seeks to protect sites that make a positive contribution to 
amenity in their undeveloped state. However, taking into account that part of the site 
is allocated for development, that the built form of the town has been extended west 
through the construction of housing at The Laureates, that the development as 
proposed reflects an extension of the layout of retail and commercial development 
existing to the east, and the mitigation provided by the enhanced landscaping plan, on 
balance the visual impacts of the proposal are considered to be mitigated to 
acceptable level. The proposal is considered to be acceptable in this regard when 
considered against relevant policies of the Allerdale Local Plan. 

Loss of Trees 

Policies S35 and DM17 of the Allerdale Local Plan 2014 state that wherever possible, 
existing trees that are considered important to the local community and contribute 
positively to character of the area will be protected. Proposals that require tree felling 
will normally be resisted unless acceptable mitigation/compensation is proposed. The 
supporting text for policy DM17 suggests that trees will be expected to be replaced on 
a 2:1 ratio. 

Tree Preservation Order No.9 of 2017, Low Road, Cockermouth applies to part of this 
site and land to the east. This covers two individual trees that fall outside of the 
applications site, and a band of continuous woodland which extends in part to the 
front and rear of the site, but not to the full eastern extent. This defined protected 
woodland continues west beyond the limits of the application site.  This TPO is an 
update and replaces TPO No.2 1987. 

Prior to the submission of application 2/2016/0186 and at the request of Officers, the 
applicant commissioned a report from Capita on the trees within the site. This states 
that the committee report supporting the original TPO in 1987 made it clear that the 
TPO was not intended to prevent future development, acknowledging that tree 
removal would be necessary and confirming that consent for reasonable tree removal 
would not be withheld. The Capita report goes on to state that none of the trees within 
the application site are individually noteworthy, but collectively they provide a pleasant 
background visual element and add to the green feel of this busy route. The report 
goes on to acknowledge that retention of the frontage trees would require retention of 
the embankment, including the level area where the track would have been, thereby 
reducing the developable area of the site. The applicant has indicated that any retail 
development would need to utilise all of the site to be able to attract a national 
company. The Capita report acknowledges that retaining the trees would present 

Page 73



challenges in terms of ensuring the stability and integrity of the embankment and 
incorporating the appearance if the remaining site is levelled. 

The Capita report considered that an alternative scheme to remove existing trees and 
provide mitigation planting, successfully done, would link in with and provide visual 
continuity with the landscape alongside the retail outlet to the east, losing the wooded 
impression of the site and creating a more formal but still visually pleasing 
development, with trees as an important element. 

The application has been supported by an updated Tree Report and Arboricultural 
Implications Assessment, Tree Data, Constraints and Protection Plan, and a 
Landscape and Visual Assessment. 

The AIA identifies that there are twenty individual trees and thirteen groups
of trees within the site. Of these, four individual trees and one group were identified as
retention category ‘B’, twelve individual trees and twelve groups were
identified as retention category ‘C’ and four trees were identified as retention
category ‘U’. There was no retention category ‘A’ trees identified. 

Category A trees are considered of most merit, followed by B and C. Within the 
scheme, the category B trees identified all fall within either the raised railway 
embankment or the sewer easement to the rear of the site. As such, their retention as 
part of a comprehensive re-development of the site removing the embankment would 
not be achievable. The majority of individual trees or groups on site are considered as 
Category C2, with little individual merit. 

The difficulties of retaining existing trees in this instance are noted, particularly given 
the physical growth of the trees on the raised embankment, the amount of land that 
the embankment occupies and how an embankment of this extent and height could 
be appropriately incorporated into a comprehensive re-development, particularly given 
access requirements and that the trees have developed on an adhoc basis. The 
visual contribution of the site to the character of the area has been considered 
separately and it is concluded that whilst the change in the appearance of the site will 
be significant, the re-development provides an acceptable replacement planting 
scheme.  

Whilst the existing trees have been specifically protected for their amenity value and 
to ensure their consideration as part of any future development, in this instance, both 
the economic benefits of the proposal and the enhanced mitigation landscaping 
scheme provided are considered sufficient to outweigh the loss of trees in accordance 
with Policy DM17. Retention of the existing trees is not considered to be a sufficient 
reason to refuse the proposal, subject to appropriate conditions to secure those trees 
to be retained, and a replacement planting scheme in accordance with the submitted 
plans. The replacement landscaping scheme is considered to be sufficient to allow the 
development to integrate with existing commercial development to the east and The 
Fitz parkland to the south. The proposal is therefore considered acceptable in relation 
to policy DM17 of the Allerdale Local Plan. 

Should planning permission be granted, it is considered appropriate to restrict the 

Page 74



removal of trees subject of the TPO until a contract of works has been entered into to 
commence the development under consideration. 

Residential Amenity

Amongst other matters, Policy S32 seeks to ensure that the residential amenity of 
communities are maintained to an appropriate level. The proposal has the potential to 
impact local residents at the construction stage and during operation, primarily 
through deliveries to and from site, loading and unloading etc and should a B2 end 
user occupy the proposed employment unit. The proposal is approx. 110m from the 
nearest residential properties at Parklands Drive. The application is accompanied by a 
Noise Impact Assessment.

The Council’s Environmental Health section has advised that subject to conditions 
controlling such matters, residential amenity would be protected to an appropriate 
level. On this basis, the development is considered to be acceptable in this respect, in 
accordance with Policy S32. 

Sustainability, Access and Parking

Policies S2 and S22 of the ALP (Part 1) seek to ensure that new development is 
located in areas that help to reduce journey times, have safe and convenient access 
to public transport, improve travel choice and reduce the need to travel by private 
motor vehicles. These policies accord with Paragraph 32 of the NPPF which seek to 
ensure sustainable transport modes are maximised and development is safe and 
accessible. Policy S5 requires that new development includes acceptable 
arrangements for car parking and access. 

The application has been supported by a Transport Assessment and a Travel Plan. 
The Transport Statement considers in detail the accessibility of the site by all 
methods.

Whilst considered an ‘out of centre’ development for retail purposes, the site lies 
approx. 420m from Crown Street and 660m from Main Street. The Institution of 
Highways and Transportation (IHT) document 'Providing for Journeys on Foot’ (2000) 
considers acceptable walking distances for planning and evaluation purposes and 
indicates that a distance of 400m is acceptable for retail related development and 
800m as the preferred maximum. For walkers, the site can be accessed on foot 
directly from the existing footway on the northern side of Low Road, connecting to the 
east, and linking from there to the town centre. At the Low Road / Parklands Drive 
Roundabout approximately 200m from the eastern edge of the site  a footway is 
available on the opposite side of the carriageway. Crossing facilities are present at the 
Low Road / Parklands Roundabout in the form of dropped kerbs with tactile paving 
and a refuge island present on the western arm of the junction. The footways on Low 
Road are approximately 2m wide and benefit from street lighting and continue 

Page 75



eastwards providing a direct link to Main Street in the town centre. This route into 
town offers a number of connections to other parts of the town. 

Data provided by the applicant demonstrates that the eastern part of the town centre, 
The Parklands and The Laureates will be within an 800m walking distance (10 mins), 
and that Derwentside Gardens, Station Street and Brigham Road would be within a 
1200m walking distance (15 mins). Existing bus stops on Crown Street and Gote 
Road are within the preferred maximum walking distance of 800m to public transport 
facilities. The site is located adjacent to an existing bus corridor, the closest bus stops 
to the development site are located on Crown Street approximately 450m from the 
proposed retail store entrance. Bus stops are located on either side of the 
carriageway between the Aldi access junction and Horsman Street and are accessible 
via dropped kerbs. An additional stop is also location on Gote Road within 
approximately 550m of the site opposite the southbound carriageway on the bridge 
over the River Derwent. Further stops are located on Main Street. Data provided by 
the applicant indicates that there are currently 11 and 10 services operating at 
existing bus stops in the vicinity of the site during the AM and PM peak periods, 
linking through to various locations. 

At present, street lighting does not extend for the full length of the site. As one of the 
identified walking routes into the site includes the proposed new access, it is 
considered appropriate to seek the extension of the existing street lighting to ensure 
that this route is safe. This could be secured by Grampian condition, should Members 
support the proposal.

Whilst not directly adjoining a local or national cycle route, such routes are within 400 
and 600m of the site respectively and from these points, would connect the site to 
parts of Cockermouth and the wider area. Access to these local and national cycle 
routes would be predominantly along Low Road, which is presently 40mph limit 
dropping to 30mph approaching the existing junction to the proposed service yard. As 
such, this route to connect to these established cycle routes is considered to be safe. 
The residential properties within the Cockermouth area are located within a 2km 
catchment of the development site, which equates to an 8 approx. minute cycle time. 
This indicates that cycling would be an attractive mode of travel for local residents and 
staff accessing the proposed retail facilities. Cycle parking is provided within the 
scheme. 

On this basis, the proposal is considered to be accessible by a range of options other 
than the private car, and sustainable, in accordance with policies S2 and S22 of the 
ALP (Part 1). 

The applicant’s Travel Plan Framework provides for a series of initiatives to 
encourage staff primarily, but also customers to access the site by means other than 
the private car. This includes providing an up to date Travel Plan document, provision 
of public transport information, buddy systems for car sharing and walking, provision 
of cycle parking and cover for those walking and cycling to help get home in an 
emergency. A section 106 Legal Agreement would be required to secure an 
appropriate amount for monitoring the Travel Plan (£6,600.00 in total) by the 
Highways Authority. These measures should further encourage access to the site by 

Page 76



means other than the private car. 

With regards to any residual need for parking, the Highways Authority initially raised 
concerns with the level of parking proposed (106 including 10 disabled bays) in 
relation to the maximum levels set out within their parking standards (a total of 180). 
However, the Highways Authority has subsequently accepted that the proposed 
garden centre will form an ancillary use to the retail unit, the floor space for which 
should not trigger additional parking requirements. This has reduced the requirement 
by 35. 

Further, the applicant has agreed to restrict any proposed B1 office use of proposed 
Unit 2 to single storey only, which would reduce the floor space and the need for 
parking by a further 20 spaces. The Highways Authority concludes that this would 
significantly reduce the shortfall in spaces when compared to the overall maximum 
requirement for the site. The HA also notes that the end user for the proposal is a 
discount non-food retail operator and it is accepted that it will have a reduced parking 
demand compared to a food retail store which has larger impact in relation to vehicle 
generation and subsequently parking demand. On this basis, the HA removes their 
earlier objection to the proposal subject to a Traffic Regulation Order that would 
restrict parking on Low Road itself. 

11 cycle parking bays will be provided in accordance with the County Council’s 
guidelines. 

Vehicular access to the site will be provided via a new priority junction with Low Road 
towards the western end of the site. The proposal proposes a junction with right turn 
ghost island. The application provides for adequate visibility at the proposed new 
junction off Low Road and therefore the Highways Authority are satisfied with this 
aspect of the proposal subject to conditions. The submitted Transport Assessment 
also contains assessment of the local highway network supports the site access 
proposals and concludes that surrounding junctions will continue to operate 
satisfactorily with the introduction of additional traffic associated with the development 
proposals. The Highways Authority has raised no concerns in this respect and it is 
therefore concluded that the proposal will not have an adverse effect on the local road 
network.

A private service yard will be introduced at the rear of the retail unit on the eastern 
boundary of the site segregated from customer and staff traffic. Access to the service 
yard will be provided via a priority junction with the existing Lakes Homecentre store 
service road which forms a priority junction with Low Road to the east of the site. 
Vehicle swept path analysis has been undertaken for the maximum legal articulated 
vehicle and following an amended plan, the Highways Authority confirm that this 
aspect of the proposal is acceptable. 

To conclude, the proposal is considered to be in a sustainable location, accessible by 
a range of methods other than the private car. A Travel Plan will be secured to further 
improve the sustainability of the site and the Highways Authority are satisfied that the 
proposal provides adequately for any residual parking needs. The access and 
servicing arrangements are considered to be acceptable and the proposal can be 

Page 77



accommodated within the existing highway network. As such, the proposal is 
considered to be acceptable in relation to policies S2, S5 and S22 of the ALP (Part 1). 

Flood Risk/Drainage 

The application site falls partly within Flood Zone 1 (approx. 55%) and partly within 
Flood Zone 2 (approx. 45%). It is the eastern section of the site that mainly falls within 
Flood Zone 2, which is the area of the proposed retail unit. 

Policy S29 requires that new development should be avoided in locations at risk of 
flooding.  Similarly, paragraph 100 of the NPPF directs development away from areas 
of highest risk through the implementation of the sequential test. Where development 
is necessary, a Flood Risk Assessment is required to ensure that the development is 
safe, without increasing flood risk elsewhere.  The proposed retail use and 
employment use is ‘less vulnerable’ in terms of the guidance on flood risk provided 
through Planning Practice Guidance. 

Flood Risk Sequential Test:

The applicant initially looked at alternative sites within and on the edge of the town 
centre as identified by the sequential test for retail. The applicant confirms that whilst 
a number of these sites were sequentially preferable in flood risk terms, they were not 
available to the applicant or suitably sized for the proposal (as discussed in more 
detail above). 

The applicant then considered whether there are any sites beyond the town centre 
that may be sequentially preferable in terms of flood risk. The applicant has explored 
12 locations extending across a wider area of the town to the north, south, east and 
west. Due to the built up nature of the town, the majority of these sites tend to be 
open fields. A number are dismissed on the basis that they are not sequentially 
preferable for flood risk. Others are dismissed on a locational basis that they would 
not be suitable locations for new retail development particularly. 

Officer’s concur with the findings of the sequential assessment on flood risk in that 
whilst there may be sites further on the outskirts of Cockermouth that would be 
sequentially preferable in flood risk terms, these locations would be wholly unsuitable 
for retail development such as that proposed. As such, the sequential assessment is 
considered to be passed. As a less vulnerable use, it is not necessary to apply the 
exception test to this application, but it remains necessary to ensure that flood risk is 
adequately addressed for future users of the site and that the proposal does not 
increase flood risk elsewhere. 

Flood Risk Assessment:

The applicant has provided a flood risk assessment and drainage report. This 
identifies that parts of the site are susceptible to flooding from annual probability flood 
events exceeding 1 in 100 years. The site is also considered to be susceptible to flood 
risk from groundwater, albeit possible flooding from surface water or reservoirs is 
considered to be low. To mitigate risk, the applicant proposes a finished floor level of 
42.10m AOD and not less than 150mm above adjacent ground levels following any 

Page 78



re-profiling for the A1 unit and a minimum 150mm above adjacent ground levels for 
the B1/B2/B8 unit.  

Recommendations of the FRA include flood resilient construction measures and a 
Flood Management Plan. These are not sufficiently detailed within the FRA and 
further details would need to be secured by condition, should the application be 
supported. 

Drainage:
The submitted Drainage Report advises that surface water from the site appears to be 
positively drained into Low Road, with evidence suggesting that this then connects to 
an adopted surface water sewer at the Parklands Drive/Low Road intersection, 
ultimately discharging into the River Derwent via an existing outfall. 

The Drainage Report indicates that the site is considered to be unsuitable for disposal 
of surface water via ground infiltration because of underlying clay. The Drainage 
Report recommends continued drainage of surface water via Low Road to the 
adopted surface water sewer. It is proposed to restrict peak runoff from the proposed 
development to the existing peak rate from the 1 in 1 annual probability event reduced 
by 30% which gives a peak flow rate of approximately 17.2 l/s for the site. This 
provides a betterment of 70% and 76% on the peak runoff rates during the 1 in 30 and 
1 in 100 annual probability events respectively. The volume of attenuation storage 
required to store the 1 in 100 annual probability rainfall event including a 20% 
increase in rainfall intensity in order to restrict the peak surface water discharge to the 
rate proposed is 323 cubic metres. This storage volume may reduce when in 
pipe/manhole storage is taken into account and if the decision is taken to store some 
runoff above ground within the car park in events exceeding the 1 in 30 event. 

This could be achieved using below ground cellular storage and it is anticipated that 
this would be privately managed. 

The Flood Risk Assessment and Drainage Report has been considered by the Local 
Lead Flood Authority (Cumbria County Council) Subject to conditions seeking full 
details of the surface water drainage scheme, which is to include storage provision at 
plus 40% for climate change and further consideration of overland flows so as not to 
impact on neighbouring land, the LLFA has raised no objections to the proposal. The 
Environment Agency now provides Standing Advice in this respect.  

Foul water would be disposed to the existing combined sewer to the northern 
boundary of the site.

It is considered that the applicant has appropriately considered sequentially preferable 
sites in terms of flood risk and sufficient information has been provided at this stage in 
terms of flood risk and drainage to the proposal and to others. Subject to conditions 
relating to the provision of a detailed drainage scheme and its maintenance and 
management, finished floor levels, existing and proposed ground levels, a flood 

Page 79



management plan, and flood resilience measures, it is considered that the proposal is 
acceptable in relation to policy S29 of the ALP (Part 1). 

Ground Conditions

The supporting information provided with the application indicates that there have 
been historic uses to parts of the site and a Preliminary Investigation Report has 
therefore been provided for the site. Both the Environment Agency and the Council’s 
Environmental Health section have confirmed that possible contamination can be 
adequately dealt with by condition. As such, the proposal is considered to be 
acceptable in relation to Policy S30 insofar as it relates to contamination.  

Ecology

Policy S5 requires that new development will not incur any significant harmful effects 
on
environmental assets, habitats or wildlife, which cannot be successfully mitigated. 
Policy S35 requires new development to protect and enhance key ecological habitat 
and wildlife corridors, maintenance and where appropriate, enhancement of priority 
habitats and species, and contribute to green infrastructure. 

There is one statutory designated site within 2km of the application site, this is the 
River Derwent and Bassenthwaite Lake Special Area of Conservation (SAC) which 
incorporates the River Derwent and Tributaries Site of Special Scientific Interest 
(SSSI). This lies at its closest point around 45m from the site. 

As highlighted above, the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2010 
states that competent authorities are required to make an appropriate assessment of 
any plan or project they intend to permit or carry out, if the plan or project is likely to 
have a significant effect upon a European site. Further, Regulation 9 (1) of the 
Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2010 requires all public bodies to 
have regard to the requirements of the Habitats Directive in the exercise of their 
functions, particularly when determining a planning application for a development 
which may have an impact on European Protected Species ("EPS"), such as bats, 
great crested newts or otters.

An Ecological Appraisal has been provided with the application (including an 
Extended Phase 1 Habitat Survey). The appraisal notes the proximity of the site to the 
designated SAC and SSSI and provides a level of information to assist the Local 
Planning Authority to screen the proposal in the context of the Regulations and 
produce an Appropriate Assessment of Likely Significant Effects. In accordance with 

Page 80



the Habitats Regulations, an Appropriate Assessment of Likely Significant Effects has 
been prepared and concludes that with appropriate mitigation, the proposal is not 
considered likely to have a significant effect on the River Derwent and Bassenthwaite 
Lake Special Area of Conservation and River Derwent and Tributaries Site of Special 
Scientific Interest. Natural England are being consulted on this document and 
Members will be updated on their response. However, as part of their consultation 
response, Natural England advise that subject to conditions to secure a Construction 
Environmental Management Plan, a detailed Surface Water Drainage Plan, an 
Invasive Species Management Plan and a Reptile Survey, then the proposal is not 
likely to result in significant effects on the SAC/SSSI. 

The Ecological Appraisal also confirms that there is considered to be very low risk to 
protected species, having considered a range of species including bats, badgers, 
voles, red squirrel and otters, (particularly those connected to the SAC/SSSI).  As 
such, it is not considered necessary to apply the derogation tests having regard to 
Regulation 9 (1) of the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2010.

Notwithstanding the conclusions of the Ecological Appraisal, bird species are known 
to utilise the site including the Song Thrush, which is a BAP species. Conditions 
would therefore be required for the protection of nesting/breeding birds, should 
planning permission be granted. 

The Ecological Appraisal notes the presence of Himalayan Balsam on site. Officers 
consider the treatment of this invasive species can be secured under planning 
conditions as part of a Construction Environmental Management Plan. 

Although there is no formal green corridor designation relating to the site, the habitat 
on site does form part of a larger network or linkage of green space, albeit not one 
open to the public. Policy S24 promotes the creation, enhancement maintenance and 
protection of such spaces.  Insofar as this site contributes to green infrastructure, the 
proposed replacement landscaping scheme is considered to be sufficient mitigation, 
particularly given that the site is not open to the public at present and given the 
allocation for part of the site for employment development. 

Subject to appropriate conditions, the proposal is considered to be acceptable in 
terms of the nearby ecological asset (River Derwent and Bassenthwaite Lake Special 
Area of Conservation and River Derwent and Tributaries Site of Special Scientific 
Interest) and it is considered unlikely to impact significantly on any protected species. 
The proposal is considered acceptable in relation to policies S5, s35 and S24 of the 
ALP (Part 1). 

Other Issues

The advice of the Crime Prevention Officer will be relayed to the applicant for 
consideration.  

Local Financial Considerations

Page 81



Having regard to S70 (2) of the Town and Country Planning Act, the proposal has 
financial implications relating to:

NDR Revenue
Section 106 Payments as outlined above.

Conclusion 

The proposal will result in a significant visual change to this site at the western edge 
of Cockermouth, resulting primarily from the loss of trees along the former railway 
embankment, which make a positive contribute to a wider green corridor extending 
along Low Road and into the town.  The proposal will extend the urban form of the 
town further to the west, albeit it is acknowledged that decision to approve The 
Laureates housing development has already extended the town in this direction. The 
proposal would extend the commercial hub of development that has formed at the 
western end of the town, formed by the Lakes Home Centre, Aldi and Lloyds garage. 

The proposal would result in some harm to heritage assets within the locality which is 
considered to be less than substantial. Having particular regard to the duties under 
s66 and s72 of the Act, it is considered that this harm is outweighed by the benefits of 
the scheme. 

The proposal would result in the loss of the remaining allocated employment site 
within the town for a retail use, albeit the revised scheme provides for a traditional 
employment unit also outside of the allocation. However, since the refusal of 
application 2/2016/0186 in 2016, further marketing of the site has been undertaken for 
traditional employment uses, without progressing. Consultants for the Council have 
advised that the marketing approach has been reasonable and for the appropriate 
length of time. It is considered therefore that the criteria for releasing employment 
allocations within policy DM3 has been met. 

The Retail Impact Assessment for the proposal has been reviewed by consultants for 
the Council who have advised that the proposed out of town retail unit would not 
impact significantly on the vitality and viability of the town centre, in isolation, or 
cumulatively with committed development at WCF/Lidl, and with proposed 
development at the adjacent Lakes Home Centre.

Both the Environment Agency and the Local Lead Flood Authority (CCC) has advised 
that the proposal can be adequately mitigated in relation to flood risk.

The proposal would see development of a currently vacant, underused and partly 
brownfield site. It is estimated that the proposal would generate up to 65 jobs, with 
associated spin offs of economic investment and growth. The NPPF requires that 
significant weight be given to proposals that would support economic growth.
When considering the policies of the Plan as a whole, the proposal on balance is 
considered to be acceptable, subject to conditions and the completion of a s106 
Agreement for Travel Plan monitoring and the possible implementation of a Traffic 

Page 82



Regulation Order.   

Page 83



Annex 1

Conditions

Conditions applying only to the full application for the erection of retail unit (Unit 
1) (Class A1) with external garden centre, including access, landscaping and 
associated works:

1. The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of 
three years from the date of this permission.

Reason: In order to comply with Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 
1990.

2. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out solely in accordance 
with the following plans:
Dwg 728-LA2 Landscape Plan and Planting Schedule
Dwg 1328 - PL - 100 rev A Site Location Plan
Dwg 1328 - PL - 150 - Rev A Proposed Site Plan
Dwg 1328 - PL - 161 Proposed Unit 1 GA Roof Plan
Amended Drawing No 15049-014 Rev A Service Yard Vehicle Swept Paths 
16.05.18
Additional Information Planting Schedule 11.05.18
Amended Dwg 1328 - PL - 162C Proposed Unit 1 - Elevations 12 6-6-18 
Amended Dwg 1328 - PL - 163C Proposed Unit 1 - Elevations 6-6-18 
Amended Dwg 1328 - SK - 44 - Proposed Unit 1 - GA Ground Floor Plan 6-6-18
R-3062-02.02 Appendix 5 Tree Protection Plan
Reason: In order to ensure that the development is carried out in complete 
accordance with the approved plans and any material and non-material alterations 
to the scheme are properly considered.

3. No part of the retail unit hereby approved shall commence until full details of 
flood resilient construction techniques have been submitted to the Local 
Planning Authority for written approval, as recommended within the submitted 
Flood Risk Assessment (FRA) submitted by Weetwood dated February 2018. 
The approved details shall thereafter be incorporated into the scheme before 
the retail unit is brought into use. 
Reason: To reduce the risk of flooding to the proposed development in accordance 
with Policy S29 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1) 2014.

4. Finished floor levels for the retail unit hereby approved shall be a minimum of 
42.10m AOD and not less than 150mm above adjacent ground levels following 
any re-profiling (as approved under separate condition). 
Reason: To reduce the risk of flooding to the proposed development in accordance 
with Policy S29 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1) 2014.

Page 84



5. Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (Use   
Classes Order) 1987 (as amended) (or any order revoking and re-enacting that 
Order with or without modification), the retail floorspace of Unit 1 hereby 
permitted shall not exceed: 
2043sqm Gross Internal Area (GIA), of which the Net Internal Area shall not 
exceed 1737sqm in total. The convenience floorspace shall not exceed 
851sqm (up to 49%), and the net comparison floorspace shall not exceed 
1477sqm (up to 85%).For the avoidance of doubt these figures exclude the 
garden centre. The garden centre shall not exceed 697sqm.

       Reason: To ensure that the retail impacts of the development are not greater than is 
anticipated in the retail impact assessment accompanying the application, in order to 
protect the vitality and viability of the town centre, in accordance with policy DM8 of 
the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1) 2014.

Conditions applying only to the outline application for the erection of an 
Employment unit (Unit 2) (Class B1, B2, and B8) including access, landscaping and 
associated works:

6. No development shall commence until details of the appearance of the 
development, (hereinafter called 'reserved matters') have been submitted to 
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
Reason: To enable the Local Planning Authority to assess all the details of the 
development.

7. The submission of all reserved matters applications shall be made no later 
than the expiration of 3 years beginning with the date of this permission and 
the development shall begin no later  than whichever is the later of the 
following dates: (a) The expiration of 3 years from the date of the grant of this 
permission, or  (b) The expiration of 2 years from the final approval of the 
reserved matters or, in the case of approval on different dates, the final 
approval of the last such matter to be approved.
Reason: In order to comply with Sections 91 and 92 of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990.

8. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out solely in accordance 
with the following plans:
Dwg 728-LA2 Landscape Plan and Planting Schedule
Dwg 1328 - PL - 100 rev A Site Location Plan
Dwg 1328 - PL - 150 - Rev A Proposed Site Plan
Additional Information Planting Schedule 11.05.18
R-3062-02.02 Appendix 5 Tree Protection Plan
 Dwg 1328 - PL - 168 Proposed Unit 2 Elevations 12 - excluding details of 
appearance
Dwg 1328 - PL - 169 Proposed Unit 2 Elevations 34 - Excluding details of 
appearance

Reason: In order to ensure that the development is carried out in complete 
accordance with the approved plans and any material and non-material alterations 

Page 85



to the scheme are properly considered.

9. Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General 
Permitted Development)(England)(amendment) Order 2016, or any document 
revoking or re-enacting that order, no B1 use of the site for offices shall 
exceed a Gross Floor Area of 509sqm. 

Reason: To ensure that the development has an appropriate level of parking 
provision, in the interests of highway safety and in accordance with policies S5 and 
S22 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), 2014. 

10. Finished floor levels for the employment unit hereby approved shall be set a 
minimum of 150mm above existing ground level. 
Reason: To reduce the risk of flooding to the proposed development in accordance 
with Policy S29 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1) 2014.

Conditions applying to both the full application for the erection of retail unit (Class 
A1) with external garden centre and outline application for the erection of an 
Employment unit (Class B1, B2, and B8):

11. No part of the development hereby permitted shall be built above ground level 
until there has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority details of the height, type, materials and colour finish of all 
means of enclosure and gates associated with that part of the development. 
Any such means of enclosure and gated shall be constructed prior to the 
approved buildings being brought into use. All means of enclosure so 
constructed shall be retained and no part thereof shall be removed without the 
prior consent of the Local Planning Authority.
Reason: To ensure a satisfactory standard of development which is compatible with 
the character of the surrounding area in accordance with Policy S4 of Allerdale Local 
Plan (Part 1) Adopted July 2014. 

12. No part of any building hereby approved shall be constructed above ground 
level until full details including colour finish and representative samples of all 
external and roofing materials have been submitted to and approved in writing 
by the Local Planning Authority. The materials so approved shall be used in 
the development as approved.
Reason: To ensure a satisfactory standard of development which is compatible with 
the character of the surrounding area in accordance with Policy S4 of Allerdale Local 
Plan (Part 1) Adopted July 2014. 

13. No part of the development hereby permitted shall be constructed above 
ground floor level until details of the treatment and finishes of all hard 
surfaces within the site have been submitted to and approved by the Local 
Planning Authority. The details so approved shall be completed prior to the 
use of the development hereby approved being occupied and shall be retained 
at all times thereafter.

Reason: In order to ensure a satisfactory standard of development for the external 
appearance of the approved scheme in relation to its surroundings, in compliance 

Page 86



with the National Planning Policy Framework and Policy DM14 of the Allerdale Local 
Plan (Part 1), Adopted July 2014.

14. No development shall commence until full details and cross sections 
demonstrating any re-profiling of ground levels across the site have been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The 
development shall be completed only in accordance with the approved details.  
Reason: To ensure a satisfactory standard of development which is compatible with 
the character of the surrounding area, in compliance with the National Planning 
Policy Framework and Policy S4 of Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1) Adopted July 2014.

15. The development shall not be brought into use until visibility splays providing 
clear visibility of 2.4 metres x 120 metres measured down the centre of the 
access road and the nearside channel line of the major road have been 
provided at the junction of the access road with the county highway. 
Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General 
Permitted Development) Order 2015 (or any Order revoking and re-enacting 
that Order) relating to permitted development, no structure, or object of any 
kind shall be erected or placed and no trees, bushes or other plants which 
exceed 1m in height shall be planted or be permitted to grow within the 
visibility splay which obstruct the visibility splays. 
Reason: To ensure an acceptable standard of highway access during the 
construction and operational use of the site, in compliance with the National 
Planning Policy Framework and Policy S2 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), 
Adopted July 2014.

16. The carriageway, footways and footpaths shall be designed, drained and lit to 
a suitable standard and in this respect further details, including 
longitudinal/cross sections, shall be submitted to the Local Planning Authority 
for approval before any part of the development hereby permitted is 
commenced. No work shall be commenced until a full specification has been 
approved. Any works so approved shall be constructed before the 
development is brought into use.  
Reason: To ensure a minimum standard of construction within the approved 
development in the interests of highway safety.

17. The operational use of either the retail or employment unit hereby approved 
shall not be commenced until the access and parking requirements have been 
constructed in accordance with the approved plan.  Any such access and or 
parking provision shall be retained and be capable of use when the 
development is completed and shall not be removed or altered without the 
prior consent of the Local Planning Authority.
Reason:     To ensure a minimum standard of access and parking provision when 
the development is brought into use in accordance with policies S5 and S22 of the 
Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), 2014.

18. No part of the retail unit or employment unit hereby permitted shall be brought 
into use until a Travel Plan for that particular unit has been submitted to and 

Page 87



approved in writing by the local planning authority.  The measures identified in 
the Travel Plan shall be in general accordance with the submitted ECS Travel 
Plan Framework dated February 2018 and shall be implemented by the 
occupier of that element of the development within 12 months of that element 
being brought into use.
Reason: To aid in the delivery of sustainable transport objectives in accordance with 
Policy S22 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1) 2014.

19. Upon commencement of either the retail use or the emplyment use hereby 
approved, an annual report reviewing the effectiveness of the Travel Plan 
associated with that use and including any necessary amendments or 
measures, as well as timing for their implementation, shall be submitted to 
and approved in writing  by the Local Planning Authority. Any amendments 
hereby approved shall be implemented in accordance with the approved 
timescales. 
Reason: To aid in the delivery of sustainable transport objectives from the 
operational use of the site in accordance with Policy S22 of the Allerdale Local Plan 
(Part 1) 2014.

20. Before any part of the development is brought into use, details of a 2.0m wide 
footway along the frontage of the site with Low Road and the extent of any 
guard railings along the footway shall be submitted to the Local Planning 
Authority for written approval.  The approved scheme shall be fully 
implemented prior to the development being brought into use. 
Reason: To ensure satisfactory facilities for pedestrians in the interests of highway 
safety and in accordance with policies S5 and S22 of the Allerdale Local Plan 2014.

21. No part of the development shall be brought into use until street lighting has 
been extended along Low Road for the full extent of the site frontage in 
accordance with details that have been submitted to and approved in writing 
by the Local Planning Authority. 
Reason: To ensure satisfactory facilities for pedestrians in the interests of highway 
safety and in accordance with policies S5 and S22 of the Allerdale Local Plan 2014.

22. No part of the development hereby permitted shall be brought into use until a 
Flood Management Plan for that part of the development has been submitted 
to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority, as recommended 
within the submitted Flood Risk Assessment (FRA) submitted by Weetwood 
dated February 2018. The FMP shall address the objectives within the FRA and 
shall include the provision of safe route(s) into and out of the site to an 
appropriate safe haven in the event of a flood. The approved Flood 
Management Plan shall be made available to users of the site at all times 
thereafter. 
Reason: To encourage safe access and egress from and to the site during a flood 
event in accordance with Policy S29 of the Allerdale Local Plan 2014.

23. No development shall commence until full details of the proposed surface 
water drainage scheme have been submitted to and approved in writing by the 

Page 88



Local Planning Authority. 
The scheme shall: 
a. Be in broad accordance with the Flood Risk Assessment V2.1 and 

Drainage Assessment V2.1 prepared by Weetwoods and dated February 
2018; 

b. Include the location and results of infiltration/soakaway testing; 
c. Respond to the infiltration/soakaway testing results; 
d. Demonstrate that no flooding will occur on any part of the site for a 1 in 30 

year rainfall event unless designed to do so; 
e. Demonstrate that flooding will not occur to any building or the 

neighbouring highway for a 1 in 100 year rainfall event plus 40% to 
account for climate change; 

f. Indicate the route of possible overland flows resulting from rainfall in 
excess of a 1 in 100 year 6 hour rainfall event and detail how these 
conveyance routes would be managed;

g. Provide detailed plans of the proposed finished site levels and ground 
contours (and how these contours would relate to existing contours that 
are not being modified). 

h. Provide detailed design drawings and plans of the proposed drainage 
system; 

i. Set out details of any additional mitigation measures that may be required 
to manage surface water on site and information as to their location and 
the timetable for their delivery; 

j. Set out arrangements for ongoing management and maintenance of the 
drainage system over the lifetime of the development. 

The approved surface water drainage scheme shall be fully implemented 
before any part of the development is brought into use and shall be managed 
and maintained thereafter in accordance with the approved details.  
Reason: To manage surface water sustainably and minimise surface water flood risk 
within and outside of the development in accordance with policy S29 of the Allerdale 
Local Plan (Part 1) 2014.

24. Prior to the commencement of the development, detailed mitigation measures 
for the prevention of pollution of controlled waters from operational surface 
water run-off   shall be submitted to the Local Planning Authority for approval. 
The approved mitigation measures shall be implemented before the 
development is brought into use and shall be maintained and retained in 
operational use for the lifetime of the development. 
Reason: To promote sustainable development, secure proper drainage and to 
manage the risk of flooding and pollution in accordance with policies S29, S32, S35 
and S36 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1) 2014. 

25. Foul drainage shall be disposed of to the adopted Public Sewerage system.
Reason: To promote sustainable development, secure proper drainage and to 
manage the risk of pollution in accordance with policies S32 and S36 of the Allerdale 
Local Plan 2014.

26. No development approved by this permission shall commence until a site 
investigation scheme, based on the Dunelm preliminary investigation D7239 

Page 89



dated February 2016, within the site boundary has been carried out to 
establish the degree and nature of the contamination and its potential to 
pollute the environment or cause harm to human health. The scope of works 
for the site investigations should be agreed with the Local Planning Authority 
prior to the commencement.
Reason:  To minimise any risk during or post construction works arising from any 
possible contamination from the development to the local environment in compliance 
with the National Planning Policy Framework and Policy S30 of the Allerdale Local 
Plan (Part 1), Adopted July 2014. 

27. Should land affected by contamination be identified following site 
investigations (under condition 26) which poses unacceptable risks to human 
health, controlled waters or the wider environment, no development shall take 
place until a detailed remediation scheme has been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The scheme must include 
an appraisal of remediation options, identification of the preferred option(s), 
the proposed remediation objectives and remediation criteria, and a 
description and programme of the works to be undertaken including the 
verification plan. 
Reason: To minimise any risk during or post construction works arising from any 
possible contamination from the development to the local environment in compliance 
with the National Planning Policy Framework and Policy S30 of the Allerdale Local 
Plan (Part 1), Adopted July 2014.

28. Should a remediation scheme be required under condition 27, the approved 
strategy shall be implemented and a verification report submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority, prior to the development 
(or relevant phase of development) being brought into use.
Reason: To minimise any risk during or post construction works arising from any 
possible contamination from the development to the local environment in compliance 
with the National Planning Policy Framework and Policy S30 of the Allerdale Local 
Plan (Part 1), Adopted July 2014.

29. In the event that contamination is found at any time when carrying out the 
approved development that was not previously identified it must be reported 
immediately to the Local Planning Authority. Development on the part of the 
site affected must be halted and a risk assessment carried out and submitted 
to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Where 
unacceptable risks are found remediation and verification schemes shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. These 
shall be implemented prior to the development (or relevant phase of 
development) being brought into use. All works shall be undertaken in 
accordance with current UK guidance, particularly CLR11. 
Reason: To minimise any risk arising from any possible contamination from the 
development to the local environment in compliance with the National Planning 
Policy Framework and Policy S30 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), Adopted July 
2014.

30. There shall be no use of reverse bleepers on delivery vehicles connected with 

Page 90



the site. Reversing of any vehicles on site will be controlled by a banksman 
only.
Reason: In the interests of amenity and in accordance with Policy S32 of the 
Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1) Adopted July 2014. 

31. Prior to either the retail or employment unit hereby approved being brought 
into use, details of the location and facilities for the storage of waste from the 
use of that unit shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. The approved storage facilities shall be made available for 
each unit, before is brought into use and shall be retained thereafter fo rthe 
lifetime of the development. 
Reason: In the interests of safeguarding visual amenity in the locality from the 
operational use of the application site, in compliance with the National Planning 
Policy Framework and Policy S32 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), Adopted July 
2014.

32. No development shall take place until a Construction  Method Statement has 
been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
The statement shall include the following: 
(a) Traffic Management Plan to include all traffic associated with the 

construction phase of the development, including site and construction 
staff traffic, parking, turning and compound areas during the construction 
phase; 

(b) Procedure to monitor and mitigate noise and vibration from the 
construction and to monitor any properties at risk of damage from 
vibration, as well as taking into account noise from vehicles, deliveries. 
All measurements should make reference to BS7445; 

(c) Mitigation measures to reduce adverse impacts on residential properties 
from construction compounds including visual impact, noise, and light 
pollution; 

(d) A written procedure for dealing with complaints regarding the 
construction; 

(e) Measures to control the emissions of dust and dirt during construction 
(including any wheel washing facilities); 

(f) Programme of work for the Construction phase; 
(g) Hours of working and deliveries during construction; 
(h) Details of lighting to be used on site during construction. 
(i)   Highway signage / Haulage routes for the construction phase 
(j)  Pollution prevention measures to limit or negate dust, silt and run-off 

input to the water body (river Derwent)  during the construction phase 
(k)  Measures to manage, minimise or negate the risk of introducing and/or 

spreading invasive non-native species (particularly Himalayan Balsam). 
(l)  Measures to minimise/ negate shading and / or leaf little of water body 
The approved statement shall be adhered to throughout the duration of the 
construction phase of the development. 

Reason:  In the interests of safeguarding the amenity of the occupiers of 
neighbouring properties and ecological interests during the construction works of the 

Page 91



development hereby approved, in compliance with the National Planning Policy 
Framework and Policies S32 and S35 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), Adopted 
July 2014 and in the interests of highway safety.

33. Prior to the operational use of the development commencing, a detailed 
lighting scheme shall be submitted to the Local Planning Authority for 
approval. The lighting scheme shall be accompanied by a lighting impact 
assessment undertaken by a suitably qualified engineer and shall include 
consideration of wildlife. The lighting scheme shall include for approval the 
hours of operation and levels of illumination. The approved lighting scheme 
shall be adhered to at all times during the operational phase of the 
development. 
Reason: To safeguard the visual amenity of the locality and to ensure that ecological 
interests are appropriately protected, in compliance with the National Planning 
Policy Framework and Policies S32 and S35 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), 
Adopted July 2014.

34. The construction phase of any part of the development shall be undertaken in 
accordance with the 'On site precautions' specified within the Brooks 
Ecological Appraisal dated January 2018. 
Reason: In the interests of safeguarding ecological interests during the construction 
works of the development hereby approved, in compliance with Policy S35 of the 
Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), Adopted July 2014. 

35. No development shall commence until the applicant has submitted a reptile 
survey of the application site. Should the survey advise that the site is being 
used by reptiles, it shall also include recommended mitigation measures, pre-
construction, during and post construction. The development shall be 
undertaken in accordance with the approved mitigation measures. 
Reason: To minimise the risk to protected species in accordance with policy S35 of 
the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), Adopted 2014.  

36. No development shall commence within the site until the applicant has 
secured the implementation of a programme of archaeological work in 
accordance with a written scheme of investigation which has been submitted 
to and approved by the Local Planning Authority. This written scheme will 
include the following components: 
i) An archaeological evaluation; 
ii) An archaeological recording programme the scope of which will be 
dependant upon the results of the evaluation; 
iii) Where significant archaeological remains are revealed by the programme 
of archaeological work, a post-excavation assessment and analysis, 
preparation of a site archive ready for deposition at a store approved by the 
Local Planning Authority, completion of an archive report, and submission of 
the results for publication in a suitable journal. 

Reason: To afford reasonable opportunity for an examination to be made to 
determine the existence of any remains of archaeological interest within the site and 

Page 92



for the preservation, examination or recording of such remains in accordance with 
Policy S27 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), Adopted July 2014.

37. All planting, seeding or turfing comprised within the landscaping scheme 
hereby approved shall be carried out in the first planting season following 
completion of the retail unit and any trees or plants which within a period of 5 
years from the completion of the retail unit die, are removed or become 
seriously damaged or diseased shall be replaced in the next planting season 
with other similar size and species, unless otherwise agreed in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority. 
Reason: In order to enhance the appearance of the development and minimise the 
impact of the development in the locality.

38. No trees, subject of Tree Preservation Order No.9 2017, Low Road, 
Cockermouth shall be felled or removed until a contract has been granted for 
the delivery of the redevelopment of the site, subject of this permission. 
Reason: To ensure the delivery of the development preserves and enhances the 
existing environment of the site and its character and setting within the Conservation 
Area, in compliance with the National Planning Policy Framework and Policies S4 
and S27 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), Adopted July 2014. 

39. All works to trees shall be undertaken in accordance with the 
recommendations contained within the submitted Preliminary Tree Survey and 
Arboricultural Implications Assessment, Brooks Ecology updated February 
2018 in combination with the approved Tree protection Plan. 

Reason: To ensure that retained trees are adequately protected during the 
construction phase of the development, in accordance with policy DM17 of the Allerdale 
Local Plan (Part 1), Adopted July 2014.

Proactive Statement

Application Approved Following Revisions

The Local Planning Authority has acted positively and proactively in determining this 
application by identifying planning policies, constraints, stakeholder representations and 
matters of concern within the application (as originally submitted) and where appropriate 
negotiating, with the Applicant, acceptable amendments and solutions to the proposal to 
address those concerns.  As a result, the Local Planning Authority has been able to grant 
planning permission for an acceptable proposal, in accordance with the presumption in 
favour of sustainable development, as set out within the National Planning Policy 
Framework.  
 

Notes to Applicant: 

Crime Prevention Officer – Your attention is drawn to the advice of the Police in terms 
of the potential to introduce crime prevention measures in the detailed design of the 

Page 93



development. 

United Utilities – Drainage Comments
A critical sewer crosses this site and we may not permit building over it. We will require 
an access strip width of 10 metres, 5 metres either side of the centre line of the sewer 
which is in accordance with the minimum distances specified in the current issue of 
"Sewers for Adoption", for maintenance or replacement. 

Deep rooted shrubs and trees shall not be planted within the canopy width (at mature 
height) of the public sewer and overflow systems. Trees should not be planted directly 
over sewers or where excavation onto the sewer would require removal of the tree. 
The applicant can discuss any of the above with Developer Engineer, Josephine Wong, 
by email at wastewaterdeveloperservices@uuplc.co.uk.

United Utilities - Water Comments 
Connection would be made at the end of the 110mm PV main. 
A separate metered supply to each unit will be required at the applicant's expense and all 
internal pipe work must comply with current water supply (water fittings) regulations 
1999. 
Should this planning application be approved, the applicant should contact United Utilities 
on 03456 723 723 regarding connection to the water mains or public sewers.

Environment Agency - River Derwent is designated 'main river'. Therefore, the prior 
written consent of the Agency is required for any works in, over, under or within 8 metres 
of the 'main river'. Please contact floodriskactivity@environment-agency.gov.uk who will 
advise the applicant of the current process for obtaining Consent.

Page 94

mailto:wastewaterdeveloperservices@uuplc.co.uk


Location plan

P
age 95



Location plan at 1:7500

P
age 96



Allerdale Borough Council 
Planning Application 2/2018/0124

Proposed 
Development:

Works to existing farm track to create a temporary site to 
compound access road to be in use until the end of April 2019

Location: Development at Printfield Site
King Street
Wigton

Applicant: Mr P Foster
Genesis Homes

Recommendation: APPROVE subject to conditions in Annex 1. 

Summary/Key Issues

Issue Conclusion

Principle Temporary haul route considered acceptable

Residential amenity No significant effects on amenity

Flood Risk Mitigation measures to reduce flood risk are considered to be 
acceptable in reducing the flood risk to residential properties.

The development 

The application seeks permission for the retention of a temporary haul route to the 
Printfield housing development at Wigton. This road is intended to be used by 
construction traffic. The development not only constitutes a change of use of the land but 
also an engineering operation, specifically given that the roadway has been built up 
above existing ground levels. It was completed without incorporating measures to ensure 
that flood waters could flow from one side to the other. 

The application states the haul route would be in place until the end of April 2019.  The 
track is made up of crushed hardcore and compromises two sections which link across 
two fields the first section leading from the compound measures 75m which would then 
cross Speet Gill with the second section leading to the site covering a distance of 85

Site

The site is located on agricultural land to the south of the railway line and to the north 
west of the Printfield residential development site which has a main access located off 
King Street.  

Page 97

Agenda Item 8



Relevant Planning History

2/2017/0148 – Approval of residential development at Printfield

Representations

Town Council 

No Objections subject to condition being implemented as per comments from the Flood 
and Development Manager of CCC

Cumbria Highways/Lead Local Flood Authority 

The FRA prepared by RWO Associates has acknowledged that the raising of this 
temporary access does have flood implications to the properties upstream of the new 
bridge across Speet Gill; however, the mitigation measures suggested will reduce the 
flood risk for that area and are welcomed.

The LLFA has no issues with the proposed measures but would suggest that conditions 
be added to any consent in relation to the implementation of the pipework/mitigation 
measures within a period of 4 weeks from the granting of permission.  They also suggest 
a condition relating to the reinstatement of the site.

Environmental Health  

No objections

Environment Agency 

Raise no objection to the propose development but make the following comments:- 

“We have reviewed the Flood Risk Assessment (FRA) produced by RWO Associates 
(reference RO/17279.1 Version 2, dated March 2018) as submitted with the application 
and we are satisfied that it demonstrates that the proposed development will not be at an 
unacceptable risk of flooding or exacerbate flood risk elsewhere. The proposed 
development must proceed in strict accordance with this FRA and the mitigation 
measures identified as it will form part of any subsequent planning approval. Any 
proposed changes to the approved FRA and / or the mitigation measures identified will 
require the submission of a revised FRA as part of an amended planning application.”

Other representations

The necessary publicity has been undertaken. There has been 12 letters of objection and 
a petition from occupiers of 5 plots within the Slaters Yard site at Printfield.

The objections relate to the increase in flood risk arising from the development.

 The haul route creates a barrier across the flood plain.

Page 98



 Neighbouring properties consider the proposal would lead to an unacceptable 
increase in flooding to their homes and businesses

 Potential effects on the water table
 The suggested pipes will not allow sufficient flow
 The application documents are misleading as there was no farm track existing
 The haul road should be taken down to ground level

Development Plan policies 

Allerdale Local Plan 1999 

Saved settlement limits 

Allerdale Local Plan Part 1 (2014)

Policy S1 - Presumption in favour of sustainable development
Policy S2 - Sustainable development principles
Policy S3 - Spatial Strategy and Growth
Policy S5 – Development Principles 
Policy S29 - Flood Risk and Surface Water Drainage
Policy S32 – Safeguarding amenity
Policy S33 - Landscape
Policy S4 - Design principles  

Other material considerations 

Draft Allerdale Borough Local Plan (Part 2) 
National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) (2012)

Policy weighting 
Notwithstanding the duties outlined above, section 38(6) of the Planning and 

Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires that, if regard is to be had to the development 
plan for the purpose of any determination to be made under the planning Acts, the 
determination must be made in accordance with the plan unless material considerations 
indicate otherwise. This means that the Allerdale Borough Local Plan (Part 1) 2014 
policies have primacy.

A material consideration is the provisions of the NPPF. Paragraph 215 of the NPPF 
advises that the weight afforded to development plan policies can vary according to their 
degree of consistency with this framework (the closer the policies in the plan to the 
policies in the Framework, the greater the weight that may be given). 

In this instance, the Allerdale Local Plan (part 1) policies relevant to this site and proposal 
postdate and are consistent with NPPF and so full weight can be afforded to them. 

Page 99



Paragraph 216 of the NPPF advises that weight can be afforded to emerging plans, that 
weight dependent on the stage of preparation, the extent of unresolved objections and 
consistency with the provisions of the Framework. In this instance Part 2 of the Local 
Plan is at an early stage of preparation and is afforded very little weight in the 
assessment.

Assessment

The significant benefits of delivering the associated housing site were identified in the 
officer’s report for that application. The contribution that this haul road makes to the 
efficient delivery of the housing and, in turn, the Council’s strategic growth policies must 
be afforded weight in the overall assessment. That the road provides an alternative route 
away from residents in the interests of amenity also contributes to the overall 
sustainability in accordance with policies S1 and S2. The road was not a requirement of 
the housing permission but the position of betterment in terms of residential amenity is 
clearly a material consideration.

However, as constructed with no flood mitigation, the development is not sustainable and 
conflicts with policy S29 of the Plan. A number of objections have been received relating 
to the potential increase in flood risk to their properties.

The application site is located within flood zone 3.  The flood risk assessment 
acknowledges that the creation of the haul road does have implications on the flood risk 
to the properties lying to the south of the route; however, it is considered that the most 
viable option is to create flow paths through the temporary haul road, at regular intervals. 
The report recommends that banks of 300mm diameter pipes should be installed at 
regular intervals; twelve banks of pipes along the length.

The report goes on to highlight that “By including banks of pipes as the water level starts 
to rise, if a major event occurs, water will be able to pass through the pipes and follow its 
natural flood path. Once the water reaches a level of 19.200m AOD, water will be flowing 
across a large portion of the temporary haul road and again following its natural flood 
path.

The inclusion of pipes will reduce the risk to the low-lying property upstream of the 
temporary haul road. Whilst, this will not remove the risk in its entirety it will assist with 
managing it and reduce it significantly and the impact is natural, including when 
accounting for climate change.

The flood report highlights that the existing levels to the south at the nearest property is 
19.5m AOD which is 300m above the lowest road level, as such before flows would 
reach this property the water level, in the 100-year return period, would be spilling over 
the haul road as well as utilising the banks of pipes below. 

The Environment Agency and the Lead Local Flood Authority have examined the 
proposal and are satisfied that subject to the mitigation measures being put in place the 
development would not have an adverse effect on the increase in flood risk to nearby 

Page 100



properties.

Officers acknowledge the concerns relating to flood risk however are guided by the 
comments from the LLFA and the Environment Agency and, given no objections have 
been raised by these statutory consultees, officers consider that the proposed temporary 
haul road to be acceptable.

It is considered that conditions should be attached to the grant of planning application to 
ensure the proposed mitigation measures are carried out at the earliest reasonable 
opportunity and the ground is reinstated to its former condition at the end of the 18 month 
period.

Local Financial Considerations

Having regard to S70 (2) of the Town and Country Planning Act there would be no local 
financial considerations attributed to this application.

Conclusion

Having considered the development against development plan policies, officers consider 
the temporary nature of the proposal and the proposed mitigation measures would 
satisfactorily deal with the flood risk.  Given no objections have been raised by the LLFA 
and the EA officers consider that the proposal would not have a detrimental affect on the 
flood risk of surrounding properties and recommend.

Page 101



Annex 1

Conditions/Reasons

1. This permission is limited to the period expiring on 30 April 2019. 
Immediately on the expiry of that period the use hereby permitted shall 
cease and the land reinstated in accordance with a scheme to be submitted 
to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority within 6 weeks 
from the date of this permission.
Reason: To ensure a satisfactory standard of temporary construction in the 
interests of highway safety and the restoration of the site (including ensuring there 
is no increase in flood risk) in compliance with S29 of the Allerdale Local Plan 
(Part 1), Adopted July 2014.

2. The migigation measures outlined within Chapter 4 and Appendix D of the 
Flood Risk Assessment RO/17279.1 Dated March 2018 Version 2 shall be 
carried out within 4 weeks from the date of this permission and therefater 
retained for the lifetime of the development.
Reason: To minimise the risk of flooding, in compliance with the National Planning 
Policy Framework and Policies S2 and S29 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), 
Adopted July 2014.

Page 102



Location plan

P
age 103



Location plan showing larger view

P
age 104


	Agenda
	5 2/2018/0050 - Application to vary condition 3 of planning application 2/1998/0862 - Lakes Home Centre, Low Road, Cockermouth
	6 2/2018/0051 - Application to vary condition 2 on application 2/2008/0533 - Lakes Home Centre, Low Road, Cockermouth
	7 2/2018/0070 - Hybrid application - Erection of retail unit (Class A1) with external garden centre (Full Application), Employment unit (Class B1, B2, and B8) (Outline Application with details of appearance reserved), including access, parking, landscaping and associated works - Land at Low Road, Cockermouth
	8 2/2018/0124 - Works to existing farm track to create a temporary site to compound access road to be in use until the end of April 2019 - Development at Printfield Site, King Street, Wigton

